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This year, Starlite participated in Luxe Pack Exhibitions held in Monaco, Shanghai
and New York, GIFTEX World Tokyo, HK Gift & Premium Fair and Cosmoprof Asia.
We met some old faces and also made some new friends. We are really looking
forward to the upcoming projects!
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

RESULTS
For the year ended 3Tst March, 2014, the Group’s turnover

amounted to approximately HK$1,457 million, an increase of 2%
over last year. Profit attributable to shareholders rose 61% to

approximately HK$15 million.

The results were achieved amidst mixed business conditions. On
the one hand, with the United States economy gradually
recovering and the European economy stabilizing, the Group was
able to increase its sales and profit by targeting high growth
sectors and adopting cost-effective measures. The leveling off in
the price of raw materials and fuel also benefited the Group’s
profit margins. On the other hand, labour costs continued to rise
at a fast pace in China. Moreover, as the management cautioned
in the interim report, uncertainty prevailing in the global
economy caused a fluctuation in the Group’s order book. Such
fluctuation became more pronounced in the second half of the
financial year, which together with the effect of seasonal factors
restrained the extent of the Group’s improvement for the full

year.

The Group’s southern China operation recorded a loss during the
year under review. Nonetheless, the loss has narrowed when
compared with the previous year. The eastern China operation
reported a marginal decrease in turnover but sustained a profit.
The Southeast Asia operation saw an increase in turnover but a
decline in profit. The former reflected sales growth of our plant
in Malaysia, while the latter was due to intensified market
competition experienced by our plant in Singapore and the
temporary dilutive effect resulting from parallel running of the

two plants.

In terms of sales, printing and packaging recorded no significant
change while paper products saw growth. More orders were
received for luxury packaging as the Group further expanded
into high growth sectors. Growth was also seen in greeting
cards, but orders from information technology customers
softened. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to focus on
the high growth sectors and maintain its exposure to the United
States and Europe, the Group’s top two largest markets, while
actively seek to develop new markets in the Middle East, South
America and Russia. Details of the measures are described in the

“Business Review and Prospects” section.
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Build for the Future

EXEH A 3DITEN#ProJet 3500 HD Max
Starlite’s first 3D printer

E Yt 5| S RERIProJet 3500 HD Max 3DFTEN## - 7R 750 X 750 X 1600dpif]
BRPREAK0.016ZRNEH/NEE @ fEEUEREE G MERMERE : MEE
AR T EIRERITE - BB MR MREETE MmO S E5RE - DAl E A
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The introduction of Prolet 3500 HDMax is a giant leap forward for Starlite. With the
resolution up to 750x750x1600dpi and thickness of each printed layer down to 0.016mm,
the new 3D printer redefines modeling and provides the most precise prototype ever. The
multi-jet modeling technology further speeds up the process which greatly shortens the time

for product development stage. We can now quickly check the design and improve without
spending so much time waiting. We are ready to show you the capability of the new machine.

RiSBEBRAEEHEEKR(SA300)

Automatic Lid & Base Production Line Specification

SA00 KRS MAE BBEEFKINE LEREN RS E MR
HESHNFIEEFAERAEES KA LAE -BHELIERS
BEREMT A R4 - RS Epson(E T A4 ) ER AR T R #5 1
FENL - WIAPLCAI R 12 715 H 25 AL & 7€ il 8945 Bl #8 7 f AR
A FEZEAEUSERNEEREAELSETRBAKRNSE
EAMEEM °

SA300 Automatic Lid & Base Production Line successfully achieves automated
production for lid & base, eliminating what used to be a series of complicated
hand-work. With patented techniques, the machine can perform gluing and
adhesive taping with perfect positioning. This state-of-the-art production line
redefines automated production. It brings the production of lid & base to the
highest level ever. Efficiency, quality and safety have been well taken care of.

EE51E8& L ENRIH

The new 8-colour press with UV varnishing
by Heidelberg

B Yt 3|#Speedmaster CX 102-8+L— 8 L5MNENRI K2
B R - 5T/ 16,5005R 4K K & = EN Rl
RE - BeRMEIMUVER _ERBE - REEFPHB R
FERIMRA TR

Starlite new member — Heidelberg CX102-8+L, 8-colour UV
printing press with in-line UV varnishing. Beside the high speed
performance with 16,500 sheets per hour, the new machine is
equipped with CoatingStar which accommodate your need for
various coating.




CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

DIVIDENDS

The Directors recommend a final dividend of HK1 cent (2013:
HK1 cent) per share for the year ended 31st March, 2014
payable on Friday, 19th September, 2014 to shareholders whose
names appear on the Register of Members on Wednesday, 27th
August, 2014. Together with the interim dividend of HKT cent
(2013: HKT cent) and the special dividend of HK0.5 cent (2013:
Nil) paid, the aggregate dividend for the financial year would be
HK2.5 cents per share (2013: HK2 cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Hong Kong/Mainland China Operations

Overview

Supported by unconventional monetary policies, the United
States economy has been gradually recovering while market
conditions in Europe have been stabilizing; other markets such
as Japan also improved during the year under review. Such
development provided a more favourable environment for the
Group to obtain orders at better prices, by (i) targeting the high
growth sectors with proactive sales and marketing initiatives; (ii)
utilizing the Group’s innovative design and production
capabilities; and (iii) leveraging on the Group’s high flexibility
and adaptability. Efforts were also made to further increase

domestic sales in China and expand sales to Japan.

Internally, the Group continued to strengthen and rejuvenate its
marketing team. More resources were allocated to lean
manufacturing and automation to save costs. As a further
measure, the Group exercised stringent control on stocks and
capital investment. In this regard, the leveling off in the price of
raw materials and fuel has facilitated the Group’s cost control

and budget planning.

Given the above, the Group was able to increase its sales and
profit for the year ended 31st March, 2014. However, the extent
of improvement was restrained by the rising labour costs in
China. All of the Group’s plants in China experienced a further
increase in minimum wages during the year under review. The
minimum wages soared by double digits in Guangzhou and
Suzhou in May 2013 and July 2013,
Shenzhen increased by a single digit figure in March 2013 and
then by double digits in March 2014; while the single digit

respectively; those in

increase in Shaoguan took place in May 2013. As the minimum

wage increased, social welfare contributions also increased

accordingly, which together pushed up the operating costs of the
Group.
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Starlite’s own brand

AR Team Green / GreenTaNet
About Team Green / GreenTaNet

Team Green / GreenTaNet IEX\pKIZ7#2012% - REHE [m] E
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Established in 2012, Team Green / GreenTaNet is becoming the global
leader in pioneering innovative ‘Eco-friendly’ everyday products for
sustainable, recyclable and earth-friendly living out of realisation to
forestall wreaking havoc on our environment in a plethora of ways.

.
www.greentanet.com

TeamaGreents & 512 7 & uu@mﬂ)ﬁgﬁ
TleamiGreen:SIshowib oo thfat Hong Kongk Gn‘t“Prem\um Fair

ZBMT T B Team GreenRIEETESR

Newspapers and magazines introducing products of Team Green
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Moreover, two other reasons suppressed the Group’s extent of
improvement. The first reason was seasonal factors. In line with
tradition, orders received from sectors such as the toys industry
were less in the second half of the year ended 31st March,
2014. Another reason was the fluctuation of orders, which
happened in the first half and became more pronounced during
the second half of the financial year. The phenomenon reflected
uncertainty weighing on the global economic outlook, with some
customers shifting to products with shorter cycles and/or smaller
production runs. A few customers chose to reduce their orders

as the marketplace lacked strength.

The management believes that such challenges will continue to
confront the Group in the coming year. As such, the
management is taking a number of counter measures with
specific targets. First, for the further improvement of the Group's
cost efficiency, the Group is reinforcing systems including lean
manufacturing and automation while introducing value stream
mapping and central purchasing. The Group is also expanding its
capacity in Malaysia and reviewing the Group’s operations in
China for better utilization. Second, for the enhancement of the
Group’s sales and marketing strategy, the Group apart from
building up a stronger marketing team with a sharpened focus
has also categorized its businesses into four major sectors,
namely: (i) proprietary products with confidentiality undertaking;
(ii) packaging including luxury packaging and specialty printing;
(iii) children’s books and greeting cards; and (iv) original design
manufacturing (ODM) and original brand manufacturing (OBM)
businesses. Moreover, as a longer-term endeavour, new markets
will be actively explored in the Middle East, South America and
Russia. Last but not least, the Group is revitalizing its
management team with younger talent and entrepreneurship and

adopting an accountability system.

The management believes that these measures will enable the
Group to meet the challenges and seize the opportunities. In the
meantime, the management is mindful of the uncertainty in the
global market, and is prudently managing the Group’s cash flow

and customers’ credit as a safeguard against risks.

e

I

B ZEMBEREEEASREFEAZE R - H
—REFHMER —WNRE —E-WEETEEF
KEMARSERTEZAERL¥F L - H TR
AENRSE SEBRAELFFEEHR  BE
THFEBEEMNE  RBRRREHENSDARAR
BOEFEAMEREEBREE /R EBNHE
o MABBEFPRAERMHERTIEMERERDT
RIE ©

EEERGE SERK-—FNFEYH LBKE - &K
HEEREEMBBELRRZBERAEE 8L
RE—FRARANY G SEBNRBEEERNE
B EABERES BERPREE LENS
KETHNEENRRASTERNRAABEBNE
Byam-HR RueftEHRBEEREBRMS
SERRCEHEB  AAFEBE D BOARE
DHRORBEE  (WEXER BREEREK
RFFIRENR : (R EBENE REE®  (VBER
FHODME AR M EOBMBIEET - b ERE
BRE SEREGHATR BENRENEH
M -mE SEEGBEEFELCHTEE B
BRRE T HREA-

ERHERE ZEREEDASEEHSIBLZE
B - ELFRIE - B IR E IR IR T IS A T E MR
SEG WHEBEEEERESECReRRE,E
AR g E kR -

11



) 4
= 0

Operational Excellence

Suzhou M| Nokyo RR

Shaoguan &3R8

Shanghai £i§
\\. Guangzhou B
L — < 'Shenzhen H=ﬂ||

Hong Kong &t

Malaysia E?Fei?é %)
15

Slngapore Fhho

si8an His8ih ‘ | SWNEMEBE

Hong Kong Headquarters Manufacturmg Plant Sales Representative Office

A

7% ¥ o

1SO 9000

oo

CERT. NO.:92-2-0101
SSI1S0 9002:1994

CERT. NO.2945 Cerl. No. EMSC-1635



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Southern China Operation

The Group’s southern China operation recorded a profit in the
first six months, but was adversely affected by seasonal factors
and a higher fluctuation of orders during the second half of the
financial year. The impact was exemplified during the Chinese
Lunar Year holiday in 2014, which fell between late January and
early February, when workers took long leave and production
was interrupted. As a result of the setback in the second half,
the southern China operation suffered a loss for the full year.

Nevertheless, the loss was smaller than that of last year.

Turnover of the southern China operation increased slightly
during the year under review, with paper products being the
major contributor. However, the printing and packaging division
registered a decline in sales due to intense market competition
and unsteady orders from the toys sector. By expanding into
greeting cards and luxury packaging, the southern China
operation managed to tap business from other sectors such as

food, cosmetics and information technology.

To enhance its sales and profit, the southern China operation is
introducing sophisticated electronic components to greeting cards
and paper products to open new areas of opportunity for
customers. Moreover, it is actively expanding into original design
manufacturing (ODM) and original brand manufacturing (OBM),
taking Japan as the first market for development. In this regard,
the Group attended Japan’s leading trade fair Giftex World 2013
in June 2013 to showcase our innovative products such as Paper
Speaker and Plywood Puzzle, which received favourable

response from visitors and local media.

Moving forward, the southern China operation will continue with
its effort to penetrate new markets while expanding domestic
sales in China. The management expects more orders from the
information technology sector in the coming year with the
launches of new products by customers. Internally, cost-saving
systems such as lean manufacturing, automation, value stream
mapping, and central purchasing will be introduced or reinforced
to increase the cost efficiency of the southern China operation.
In addition, more orders that are labour intensive in nature will
be allocated to Shaoguan to take advantage of the relatively
lower costs there. The management will also explore other
means to better utilize the Group’s manufacturing network and

resources in southern China.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

As part of its effort to (i) increase automation and improve
efficiency; and (ii) expand the ODM and OEM businesses, the
Group has been developing custom-made machinery and brand-
name products. In order to protect the intellectual rights for the
design as well the trademark, the Group applies for patents from
the State Intellectual Property Office of the PRC. As of to date,
the Group has 32 registered patents for invention and utility

model, and is waiting for approval for 8 applications.

In March 2013, Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd obtained the
Quality Safety certificate from the General Administration of
Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine certifying that
the food packaging materials and production process of the
company is clean, non-toxic and harmless. This authentication
provides an endorsement for the Group’s professionalism as it

expands into the food packaging market.

In March 2014, Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd was granted
“The Lean Best Practice Award”, its second year of receiving
such honour. Bestowed by Hallmark, the largest greeting card
company in the United States, the award recognized the Group's
effort and performance in the Lean Factory Assessment made by
Hallmark. Being one of the three winners of this Award, Starlite
shared its experience with participants from more than 30 major
suppliers attending the 2014 Hallmark Supplier Summit.

Eastern China Operation

Following its turnaround in 2013, the eastern China operation
managed to sustain a profit for the year ended 31st March,
2014. However, both sales and profitability were driven down
by rising labour costs and a fluctuation of orders that was more

pronounced in the second half of the financial year.

Notwithstanding this setback, the eastern China operation has
been able to benefit from its focused strategy, winning orders of
large quantity from multinational customers and obtaining better
pricing by offering high quality and innovative packaging
solutions and specialty printing services. This strategy also
facilitated the Group’s expansion of domestic sales in China,
with orders covering printing and packaging as well as labels

printing.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

In the coming year, the eastern China operation will continue to
tighten its cost control and seek for higher saving through further
implementation of lean manufacturing and automation. On the
sales side, the management looks forward to more domestic
business from multinational companies in the technology, media
and telecommunications sectors and local companies tapping the

growing economy of the Yangtze River Delta.

Southeast Asia Operation

During the year under review, the southeast Asia operation
recorded an increase in turnover but a decline in profit. Sales at
Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte Ltd, our Singapore subsidiary, fell
slightly while the new factory in Johor, Malaysia saw higher
sales. Overall, the setback can be attributed to intensified market
competition, unsteady demand in major markets, higher
production costs, and the overlapping of costs and resources
resulted from the parallel running of the Singapore and Malaysia

plants.

Looking ahead, while the negative effect of parallel running is
expected to continue in the coming vyear, the management
believes that such effect will gradually diminish as the Malaysia
plant is reaching full-scale operations with higher efficiency.
Such stronger capacity will enable the Singapore subsidiary to
increase its competitiveness, capitalizing on its core competence
in printing and packaging to provide customers with more cost-
effective  manufacturing and fulfilment services. It will also
enable the Southeast Asia operation to seek further growth in

Australia and New Zealand.

The Singapore subsidiary was selected for a Merit Award and a
Gold Award in the 3R Packaging Awards 2014 in recognition for
the Singapore subsidiary’s effort in reducing waste. The 3R
Packaging Awards are an initiative of the Singapore Packaging
Agreement to encourage companies to reduce product packaging
through optimizing production processes, redesigning packaging,

and increasing the reuse and recycling of packaging waste.

Moreover, the Singapore subsidiary won major awards in the
Singapore Packaging Star Awards 2013, the AsiaStar Awards
2013 and the WorldStar Packaging Awards 2013. It has one of
the longest winning streaks in the Singapore Packaging Star
Awards of nine consecutive vyears. The AsiaStar Award is
organized by the Asian Packaging Federation while the WorldStar

competition is organized by the World Packaging Organization.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding include cash generated from the
Group’s operations and banking facilities provided to the Group
by banks mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As at 3Tst
March, 2014, the Group’s cash and bank balances and short-

term bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$227 million.

During the year under review, the interest expense of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$10 million compared to
approximately HK$9 million recorded last year. Currently, the
Group has Renminbi-denominated loan facilities amounting to
approximately RMB15 million that are available for the Group’s
Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Shaoguan and Suzhou plants for working

capital purposes.

As at 31st March, 2014, the Group had a working capital
surplus of approximately HK$157 million compared to a working
capital surplus of approximately HK$110 million as at 37Tst
March, 2013. The Group’s net gearing ratio as at 31st March,
2014 was 8% (31st March, 2013: 8%), based on short-term and
long-term bank borrowings, finance lease obligation and bill
payables, net of bank balance and cash of approximately HK$44
million (31st March, 2013: HK$46 million), and shareholders’
funds of approximately HK$559 million (31st March, 2013:
HK$561 million).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 3T1st March, 2014, certain assets of the Group with an
aggregate book carrying value of approximately HK$42 million
(31st March, 2013: HK$50 million) were pledged to secure the
banking facilities of the Group.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

All the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Chinese
Renminbi, Japanese Yen, Singapore dollars or Euro. The
exchange rate of US dollars/Hong Kong dollars is relatively
stable due to the current peg system in Hong Kong. The
Renminbi-denominated sales revenue helps to set off the Group’s
commitments of Renminbi-denominated operating expenses in
Mainland China, accordingly reducing Renminbi exchange rate
exposure. Transaction values involving Japanese Yen or Euro
were primarily related to the Group’s purchase of machinery and

such exposures were generally hedged by forward contracts.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
Currently the Group has more than 8,000 employees. The Group

maintains good relationships with its employees, providing them
with competitive packages, incentive schemes as well as various
training programmes. The Group has maintained a Share Option
Scheme under which share options can be granted to certain
employees (including executive directors of the Company) as
incentive for their contribution to the Group. Following the
opening of the “Starlite Institute of Management”, the Group
provides various training and development programmes to staff
on an ongoing basis. The Group will explore the possibility of
launching other special training programmes with universities in
Mainland China and education institutions abroad to enhance its

staff quality.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
promoting social enhancement whilst developing its businesses,
through active participation in social welfare and environmental
protection activities to realize its mission. Regardless of where
the Group operates, the Group treats the local communities as

family members and strives to contribute to such communities.

In the past years, the Group has allocated significant resources
to energy conservation and environmental protection, provided
venues and platforms of training and job opportunities for young
people, and actively supported help-poor and schooling
campaigns as well as disaster relief efforts in China. Apart from
providing financial support, the Group also contributes people
and time to various charity drives. In many circumstances, the
Group’s Chairman makes initiative to organize joint efforts with
other enterprises and friends to pool resources together for the

maximum benefits of those in need.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

During the year under review, the Group and its staff made

financial and other support to the following organizations:

. The Hong Kong Seagulls Scholarship Scheme

J Support to Student in Jiaying University

J The Federation of Hong Kong Guangzhou Community
Organisations, with donation made to earthquake relief in
SiChuan YaAn City

. Donation to Jiaying University’s anniversary

. Scholarship Scheme in The Federation of Hong Kong

Guangzhou Community Organisations

. Donation to Children’s heart foundation

LOOKING AHEAD
In its latest Economic Outlook published in May 2014, the

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
(OECD) has cut the global growth forecast from its November
2013 outlook, from 3.6% to 3.4% for 2014, although it kept its
forecast for 2015 at 3.9%. Saying that the global economy is still
strengthening, the report warned that significant risks remain and
that structural reforms are essential “to enhance resilience and
inclusiveness, strengthen growth and job prospects, and ease
both external imbalances and long-term fiscal burdens.”
According to the report, among the major advanced economies,
recovery is best established in the United States, whose economy
is expected to grow by 2.6% in 2014 and 3.5% in 2015. The
euro zone will see a return of positive growth after three years
of contraction, reporting a growth of 1.2% this year and 1.7%
next year, while Japan will expand by 1.2% both this year and
next. China will again have the fastest growth among the BRIICS
(Brazil, Russia, India, Indonesia, China, and South Africa), with
rates just below 7.5% in 2014 and 2015.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

The OECD'’s forecasts give credence to the Group’s strategy of
seeking growth while cautiously watching for risks; and
maintaining exposure to the United States and European markets
while expanding domestic sales in China and diversifying into
other markets. As part of this strategy, the Group is also
reinforcing its flexibility and adaptability while taking measures
such as the launch of the Malaysia plant to increase the cost
competitiveness of the southeast Asia operation. The strategy is
implemented through the fundamental strengthening and
rejuvenation of the management team to carry out plans with
clear objectives and accountability. Some initial success has
been seen and more is likely to come as the management moves

ahead to seek improvement for the Group.
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On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our shareholders,
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On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25th June, 2014
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

Following the last fiscal year, 2013/2014 continued to saw the
Group facing a challenging environment, as years of downturn
in the United States and European markets prevailed in
suppressing demand and pricing. Under the circumstances, some
of our plants experienced insufficient work and lower profit
margins. Moreover, our four plants in southern and eastern China
were affected by an increase of 7% to 19% in wages, as well as
a rise in social welfare contributions. Furthermore, as settlement
currencies for exports, the US dollar weakened by 2% against
the Renminbi, which added further burden to our operating
costs. The manufacturing industry was driven to an elimination
race and this survival game presented all players with a severe

test.

In the face of this challenging operating environment, the Group
strengthened its sales and marketing by building up a new team
pioneered by younger talent with passion, creativity and drive.
The Group also adopted a human resources policy — primarily
through internal promotion and aided by external recruitment —
to combine the professionalism, dynamism and optimism of the
old, middle-aged, and young for its operating teams. Moreover,
the Group continued to reinforce lean manufacturing and
introduce value stream mapping with some initial success. As
always, we maintained prudent financial management. Our
central purchasing scheme has been moving on the right track

and contributing to our cost cutting.

Having commemorated the 20" anniversary of our listing, the
Group took the opportunity to review our diversified businesses
since incorporation and systematically grouped them into four
major sectors, namely: (i) proprietary products with confidentiality
undertaking; (ii) packaging including luxury packaging and
specialty printing; (iii) children’s books and greeting cards; and (iv)
original design manufacturing (ODM) and original brand
manufacturing (OBM) businesses that we sought to expand in
recent years through e-commerce to reach the end-user market
consumers. Ultimately, the Group is accountable to shareholders
for our results while the managers of the subsidiaries and

associates are accountable for their performance.
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

On behalf of the Group and the management, | would like to
thank Starlite people for their dedicated effort in making change
and innovation and their humble mind in seeking improvement
amidst good and bad times. I would also like to thank our
customers, suppliers and bankers for their strong support to
Starlite in the past decades. We at Starlite are becoming more
mature, more professional and more high-spirited as we enter

into Starlite’ s second era of entrepreneurship!

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25th June, 2014
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Revenue
Operating profit/(loss)

Profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to the
equity holders of the
Company

Dividends

Basic earnings/(losses)
per share attributable
to the equity holders
of the Company
(HK cents)

WA
mewM, (F8)

FAKRR A
BERA A
FEfE A,
(B18)

A
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XA

FRARRBER
FEARMLER
EARRF
(B 1) GEAlD

MBRE

meEWER

Year ended 31st March,
BE=R=+t—HLEFE

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
—E-mNFE =Z2—=F ZT—=-fF =—ZET——% =ZT-IZTF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FiHExT FAET FET FET FAET
1,456,556 1,427,544 1,359,676 1,545,238 1,182,639
36,875 27,849 (12,644) 46,447 54,227
15,057 9,357 (24,125) 25,060 41,212
13,128 10,502 10,502 13,128 13,081
2.87 1.78 (4.59) 4.78 7.92




FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

Non-current assets
Current assets

Current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current

liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net assets

Shareholders’ equity

MBRE

e MR R R
As at As at As at As at As at
31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
RIB-—0WF RZT—=F RZZ——F RZT—F RZZT—ZF
=B=+—-H =ZA=+—H =ZA=+—8 =ZA=+—H =ZA=+—8H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FAET FAET FAET FAET
SEREBEE 489,512 477,184 465,965 478,261 491,302
mEEE 608,195 583,359 548,051 589,370 544,432
mEAG (450,948) (473,543) (418,919) (425,990) (426,698)
MEVE EIFEE 157,247 109,816 129,132 163,380 117,734
A& 646,759 587,000 595,097 641,641 609,036
ERBBE (87,997) (25,773) (39,948) (58,524) (64,268)
BEFE 558,762 561,227 555,149 583,117 544,768
A% A = 558,762 561,227 555,149 583,117 544,768
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual report
together with the audited financial statements of Starlite Holdings
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for
the year ended 31st March, 2014.

Principal activities

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including

environmental friendly paper products.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment results are set out in

Note 5 to the accompanying financial statements.

Major customers and suppliers

For the year ended 31st March, 2014, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 34% of the Group’s total revenue
and the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 20%
of the Group’s total purchases. In addition, the largest customer
accounted for approximately 14% of the Group’s revenue while
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 8% of the

Group's total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates, or any shareholder (which,
to the knowledge of the Company’s Directors, owned more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in

the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

Results and appropriations
Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March,
2014 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page

54 of this annual report.

The Directors have declared an interim dividend of HK1 cent
per ordinary share, and a special dividend of HKO.5 cent per
share totalling approximately HK$7,877,000, which was paid on
21st February, 2014.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HKT cent per ordinary share, totalling approximately
HK$5,251,000, and recommend that the Group’s retained profits
of approximately HK$295,805,000 be carried forward.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Share capital and employee share options
Details of movements in share capital and the employee share
option scheme of the Company are set out in Notes 27 and 28,

respectively, to the accompanying financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in Note 29 to the accompanying financial

statements.

As at 31st March, 2014, the Company’s retained profit of
approximately HK$28,963,000 was available for distribution to
the Company’s shareholders, of which approximately
HK$5,251,000 has been proposed as the final dividend for the

year.

Purchase, sale or redemption of shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year
ended 31st March, 2014.

Pre-emptive rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

Bye-laws and the laws in Bermuda.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during
the year are set out in Note 16 to the accompanying financial

statements.

Bank loans
Particulars of bank loans as at 31st March, 2014 are set out in

Notes 23 and 33 to the accompanying financial statements.

Pension schemes
Details of the pension schemes are set out in Note 9 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Charitable contributions
During the vyear, the Group made charitable contributions of

approximately HK$349,000 (2013: HK$201,000).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Directors and directors’ service contracts
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date

of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman)

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus (Senior Vice President)

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles (Senior Vice President)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, jp

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, all of the
directors will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the directors has an unexpired contract with the Group
which is not terminable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Independent Non-Executive Directors’ confirmation of
independence

The Company has received independence confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, /P
and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny pursuant to rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules, and considers them to be independent.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Directors’ interests in shares and share options

As at 31st March, 2014, the interest of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as

follows:

Long positions in Shares

Name of Director Capacity

BEEng st

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Beneficial owner and ERBEAR
ks interest of spouse EEER

Ms. Yeung Chui Beneficial owner and interest of ERBAR

BRI controlled corporation RREIAR
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus Interest of spouse [ o

AaELE

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles Beneficial owner EnlE

REMEE

Details of share options granted to Directors are separately disclosed under the
heading of Share Option Scheme.

Note:

1. Dayspring Enterprises Limited held 1,012,901 shares in the Company. The

entire issued share capital of the company is beneficially owned and
controlled by Ms. Yeung Chui.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Chief
Executive of the Company had, as at 31st March, 2014, any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Share option scheme

A new share option scheme has been adopted by the Company
since 15th August, 2012 (the “New Share Option Scheme”) to
replace a share option scheme which had been adopted on 6th
September, 2002 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) to comply
with the current statutory requirements. The Company may grant
options to the participants as set out in the New Share Option

Scheme.

Summary of the New Share Option Scheme was as follows:

1. Purpose of the New Share Option
Scheme
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To provide participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage participants to work towards enhancing

the value of the Company and its shares.
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2. Participants of the New Share Option
Scheme

(i) Any full-time employee of the Company or of any subsidiary; and

(ii) Any executive director and non-executive director (excluding

MR a2 AR
subsidiary.

) ARFHEWME R

(i) RAFHEB A

independent non-executive directors) of the Company or of any
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3. Total number of shares available for

issue under the New Share Option
Scheme and percentage of issued share
capital as at the date of the annual
report

RE B AR B BT R B R
AERABECETRABO L

. Maximum entitlement of each participant
under the New Share Option Scheme
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B & = 2R
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. The period within which the shares must
be taken up under an option
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. The minimum period for which an
option must be held before it can be
exercised
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The Company may initially grant options representing 52,513,528 shares
under the New Share Option Scheme (i.e. approximately 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the approval of the New
Share Option Scheme).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes adopted by the Company must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option
scheme if that will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

RIBEFHERERE - NRRV L AR TIH R52,513,528R KD (EARRQ T
PR ERESE B BETRAN10%) 2 B HE -

R X R IR A 2 ¥ BB A A 5t ) R AR ] A AT IR T i 8 R AT 2 BB AR
HETERMAIZETZRNESZHETITBRBETHEHTRNZ
30% o fifd 1R 35 07 B A At B T IR R S 2 B IB30% LR - AN AT R TR
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The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to each participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the New Share Option Scheme or
any other share option scheme adopted by the Company in any 12 month
period must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

BIEFEREFEARAR R 2T MEMERETE £ETW+=@A
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TEZERE)ESTRETFTETZRDEE T 5HBAEBTRHEKE
Z1% ©

Must not be more than 10 years from the date of offer or grant of the
option.

BERERERTZAREFTSBBTF -

An option may be exercised at any time during a period commencing on
the expiry of 6 calendar months after the date of grant of the option, but
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant.

BREUNARTERES AR NEABEAREARRITE  ETSH8
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7. The amount payable on application or
acceptance of the option and the period
within which payments or calls must or
may be made or loans for such purposes
must be paid

HEEABREN RN BN RMR
FBANKOPARKEERFEREE
A HIR

8. The basis of determining the exercise
price

BETEENESE

9. The remaining life of the New Share
Option Scheme
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The amount payable on acceptance of an option is HK$10 and an offer
shall remain open for acceptance by the participant for a period of 28
days from the date on which the letter containing the offer is delivered to
that participant.

EABREMAXN ZREREEIOT - MB2EALTARKEZH R
R T NABREIE NG ERE -

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion and shall be at least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; or

(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the 5 business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; or

(iii) ~ the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant.

BREZTEEREZGETE  ERIU TP EEERE:
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(i) RETFTEREEAOROEE-

The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of

ten years commencing on the adoption date i.e. 15th August, 2012.
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During the year, no share option was granted under the New 4 A + 0 % T {a] B8 AR 4 12 37 0 AR dE 5t &0 i 152 10 o

Share Option scheme.
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Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable any of the Company’s directors or members of its
management to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate.

Directors’ interests in contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 34 to the accompanying financial
statements, no contract of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
holding companies was a party and in which any of the
Company’s directors or members of its management had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the

end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Substantial shareholders

So far as is known to any Director or Chief Executive of the
Company, as at 31st March, 2014, shareholders (other than
Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) who had interest
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions of substantial shareholder in the shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder Capacity

e &1

Ms. Yuen Lai Ping
REFXL EaEE REBES

Mr. Hui Wan Hon

ARERAE HEMATHRAREE Z#ER
Notes:
1. Ms. Yuen Lai Ping is the spouse of Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, she is deemed to be

interest in the shares held by Mr. Lam Kwong Yu. The 210,933,477 shares
including personal interest of 21,784,000 shares and interest of spouse for
189,149,477 shares. The shares held by Mr. Lam Kwong Yu and Ms. Yuen Lai
Ping were the same block of shares.

2. These shares are jointly held by Mr. Hui Wan Hon and Ms. Ng Chee Yin
Susie Linda.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of all the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee
has reviewed with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal
control, and financial reporting matters, including the review of

financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2014.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy of all the
Directors and the senior management. The Remuneration
Committee composed of all the three Independent Non-Executive

Directors of the Company.

Beneficial owner and interest of spouse

Interests held jointly with another person
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the
Chairman of the Board, one Non-Executive Director and the
three Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company.
The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board on a
regular basis and making recommendations to the Board

regarding any proposed changes.

Financial summary
A summary of the Group’s financial information for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 22 and 23 of this annual

report.

Directors’ interests in competing business

During the year ended 31st March, 2014, none of the Directors
nor their respective associates had any interests in a business
which competes or may compete with the businesses of the

Company.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company has maintained during the
year under review the amount of public float as required under

the Listing Rules.

Corporate governance
A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 34 to 48 of the annual

report.

Auditor

The accompanying financial statements were audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditors for the
ensuring year, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25th June, 2014
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) are committed to maintaining and
upholding good corporate governance in order to protect the
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company
strives at ensuring high standards of corporate governance in the
interests of shareholders and takes care to identify practices
designed to achieve effective oversight, transparency and ethical

behavior.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2014, the Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in the then Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for the deviations as

mentioned below.

This report includes information relating to corporate governance
practices of the Company during the year ended 31st March,
2014 and significant events after that date and up to the date of
this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings and
code of conduct regarding securities dealings by directors as set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31st March, 2014.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is at the core of the Company’s corporate governance
framework, and there is clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the Management. The Board is responsible for
providing high-level guidance and effective oversight of the

Management. Generally, the Board is responsible for:

J formulating the Group’s long-term strategy and monitoring

the implementation thereof;

J reviewing and approving the annual business plan and

financial budget;

o approving the annual and interim reports;

J reviewing and monitoring risk management and internal
control;

. ensuring good corporate governance and compliance; and

. monitoring the performance of the Management.

The Board currently has seven members, comprising three
Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and three
Independent Non-Executive Directors. Independent Non-Executive
Directors represented more than one-third of the Board members,
thus exhibiting a strong independent element which enhanced
independent judgement. Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company is a
practicing CPA in Hong Kong and possesses appropriate
professional qualifications and financial management expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. A list containing the names,
roles and functions of Directors is published on the websites of
the Group and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (the
“HKEX").

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to
determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve

interim and annual results and other significant matters.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2014, four full Board #HE-ZT—WE=ZA=+—HIEER A2FH
meetings and 2013 annual general meeting (“AGM”) were held Tl AcEREEe ez T —FRRAFAS
with an average attendance rate of approximately 96% and 71% ([ E B F A &) F i’:] R E 5 Rl A #96% K&
respectively, details of which are presented below: 71% B2 T
Board Meetings
Board Members Attended/Held 2013 AGM
2e3 —E-=F

EsgmE HE BT RRBEFAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu M EE

(Chairman of the Board) (BEFE2 T /E) 4/4 v
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus HEELE 4/4 v
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles RAEMK T E 4/4 v
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRI L 3/4 —
Independent Non-Executive Directors NFHTES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR#A  S A 4/4 v
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, jp IE - mzmgs A FHt 4/4 —
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny ER i 4/4 v
Yearly meeting schedule is discussed and approved by the Board 2 F@ZEENLHECHESeRNEY R RibE -
at the beginning of the year. Board agenda is approved by the G X ez BB NAHESIHE ;@X§$@}i;
Chairman following consultation with other Board members. EZ R #% KXERRST -MAELZMEERS
Board agenda and meeting materials are dispatched to all Board #HEE@LIFxEr 2t EER -

members in a timely manner.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with
and advises the Board on corporate governance and compliance
matters. They are also encouraged to take independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense in performance of
their duties, if necessary. Furthermore, all the Directors are
covered by the Directors’ & Officers’ Liability Insurance, which

is also part of our best practices.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not have
a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu currently holds both positions. The Board believes
that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person would allow the Company to be
more effective and efficient in developing long-term business
strategies and execution of business plans. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
by the operation of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals with a sufficient number thereof being

Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Code Provision A.2.7 stipulates that the chairman should at least
annually hold meetings with the non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) without the
executive Directors present. As Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, the
Chairman of the Company, is also an executive Director of the

Company, this code provision is not applicable.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui has been re-designated from the position of
Executive Director to Non-Executive Director upon her retirement
from the Company. Ms. Yeung has not been appointed for a
specific term as she is subject to retirement and re-election at
AGM in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
The roles of the Independent Non-Executive Directors include
the following:

J provision of independent judgement at the Board meeting;
J take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
o serve on committees if invited; and

J scrutinize the performance of the Group as necessary.
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The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company and
their immediate family receive no payment from the Company or
its subsidiaries (except the Director fee). No family member of
any Independent Non-Executive Directors is employed as an
executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, or has been
so in the past three years. The Independent Non-Executive
Directors are subject to retirement and re-election at the annual
general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company. Each Independent Non-Executive Director has
provided a confirmation of his independence with reference to

the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

The Board has assessed the independence of all the Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company and considers all of
them to be independent having regard to (i) their annual
confirmation on independence as required under the Listing
Rules, (ii) the absence of involvement in the daily management
of the Company and (iii) the absence of any relationships or
circumstances which would interfere with the exercise of their

independent judgement.

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr.
Larry, 8ss, o and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, who are going to
retire at the 2014 AGM of the Company, has served as

Kwok Lam-Kwong,

Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company for more
than 9 years. In addition to their confirmation of independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan, Mr.
Kwok and Mr. Tam continue to demonstrate the attributes of an
independent non-executive director and there is no evidence that
their tenure have had any impact on their independence. The
Directors are of the opinion that Mr. Chan, Mr. Kwok and Mr.
Tam remain independent notwithstanding the length of their
service and believe that their valuable knowledge and experience
continue to generate significant contribution to the Company and

the shareholders as a whole.

Appointments, re-election and removal

There is a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new directors to the Board, the primary responsibility of
which has been delegated to the Nomination Committee. The
structure, size and composition of the Board will be reviewed
from time to time by the Nomination Committee to ensure that
the Board has a balanced skill and expertise for providing

effective leadership to the Company.
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In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, all directors
are subject to retirement at each AGM. The retiring directors
shall be eligible for re-election. New appointments either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board are subject to
re-election by shareholders of the Company at the next following
AGM.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that Non-Executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
The Non-Executive Directors of the Company have not been
appointed for a specific term as they are subject to retirement
and re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-laws of the

Company.

Responsibilities of Directors

Upon acceptance of appointment, a new Director is provided
with sufficient orientation package, including introduction to
Group activities (when necessary), induction into their
responsibilities and duties, and other regulatory requirements, to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business and

his responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

All Directors are committed to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Directors are given
guideline on their time commitments to the affairs of the
Company. Directors have also disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies or
organizations. Directors are reminded to notify the Company in

a timely manner of any changes of such information.

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 8ss, jp and Ms. Yeung
Chui were unable to attend the 2013 AGM of the Company held
on 14th August, 2013 as they were engaged in other prior

business commitments.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure their contributions to the Board remains informed and
relevant, all the Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skill. During the year, the Company had arranged
in-house trainings for Executive Directors and the Non-Executive
Director in form of seminar and provision of training materials.
In addition, the Company also provided regular updates to the
Directors in respect of the business and operations of the Group
through monthly reports; and the updates on the changes in
Listing Rules, Corporate Governance Code and related regulatory

requirements, if any.

During the year, the continuous professional development taken

by the respective Directors are as follows:

Board Members

ExgNE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Ak E

(Chairman of the Board) (EF2 L)

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus MEELE

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles SRAER A
Non-Executive Director FHTES

Ms. Yeung Chui BRELL

Independent Non-Executive Directors B I FHTES

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRAE 58 A&

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, jp SBHNEE - A EE AT
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B EST A

A. reading materials in relation to regulatory update

B. attending in-house training to update business development

C. attending seminars/courses/conferences to develop

professional skill and knowledge

During the year, the Company received training records from all
Directors relevant to the Company’s business or to Directors’

duties and responsibilities.
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Supply of and access to information

To allow the Directors to make an informed decision and
properly discharge their duties and responsibilities, the Company
Secretary ensures that relevant Board papers are sent to all the
Directors in a timely manner. All Board papers and minutes are
also made available for inspection by the Board and its

Committees.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Board Committees

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has preserved
three board committees (“Board Committees”) with defined terms
of reference (which are posted on website of the Group and the
HKEX), namely Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee

and Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy and
package of all the Directors and senior management, assessing
performance of executive directors and senior management,
review and approving annual performance bonus and approving
the terms of service contracts of executive directors and senior

management.

The Committee Chairman is required to report to the Board on
its proceedings after each meeting on all matters within its duties

and responsibilities.

Meeting of the Remuneration Committee is required to be held
at least twice a year to coincide with key dates within the
financial reporting and audit cycle. During the year ended 31st
March, 2014, three meetings were held, attendance of these

meetings held by the Remuneration Committee is set out below:

Meetings
Remuneration Committee Members Attended/Held
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, /P 2/3
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 3/3
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The Remuneration Committee is authorised to investigate any
matter within its Terms of Reference and seek any information it
requires from any employee and obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice at the cost of the Company if it
considers necessary. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the compensation of the Directors and senior executives for
2014.

During the year ended 31st March, 2014, total Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$9,072,000 (2013:
HK$8,878,000), individual details of which are disclosed in Note
10 to the financial statements. Executive Directors and senior
management’s compensation including incentive bonus shall be

based on the corporate and individual performance.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises of three Independent Non-
Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and Chairman
of the Board.

The Nomination Committee is to assist the Board in overseeing
Board organization and senior management succession planning,
assessing the independence of non-executive directors, review of
the structure, size and composition of the Board. During the year
ended 31st March, 2014, two meetings were held, attendance of

the meeting held by the Nomination Committee is set out below:

Meetings

Nomination Committee Members Attended/Held

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, /P

(Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael 2/2
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu 2/2
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 2/2
Ms. Yeung Chui 2/2

Board Diversity Policy
The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity

on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge

and length of service.
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The Nomination Committee and the Board will review the Policy
and diversity of the Board from time to time to ensure its

continued effectiveness and compliance with Listing Rules.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises of all the three Independent

Non-Executive Directors of the Company.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required to
oversee the relationship between the Company and its external
auditors, review with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal
control and financial reporting matters, including the review of

financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2014.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the interim and annual
results for the year ended 31st March, 2014 and was content
that the accounting policies of the Group are in accordance with
the generally accepted accounting practices in Hong Kong. It
also meets twice a year with the Group’s external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PWC”), to consider their report on the
scope, strategy, progress and outcome of their independent
review of the annual audit of the consolidated financial

statements.

Attendance for the two meetings held by the Audit Committee

during the year is set out below:

Meetings
Audit Committee Members Attended/Held
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael 2/2
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 85s, jp 172
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s corporate
governance compliance. The Company has not established a
Corporate Governance Committee and has delegated the function
to a senior management committee to perform the corporate
governance function. The scope of works of the committee

including the following :
J to review performance of the Group regularly;

. to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make

recommendations to the Board;

J to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior

management;

. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual applicable to employees and directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2014, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments and
estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared
the financial statements on the going concern basis. The
Directors are also responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the

financial position of the Company.

The Company provides monthly updates to the Board to assess
the Group’s financial performance, position and prospects in
sufficient details to enable the Board members to discharge their

duties under the Listing Rules.
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Internal controls

The Board has delegated to management the responsibility to
develop and maintain a sound internal control system. The
internal control system, operating through a framework of
management and operational controls, and risk management
systems, is intended to allow the Board to monitor the Group’s
business performance and financial positions, to control and
adjust risk exposures, to adopt sound business practices, to
obtain reasonable assurance on controls against fraud and errors,
to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and
to provide oversight and guidance to management in achieving

the Company’s objectives.

The key procedures that the Group has established to maintain

an effective internal control system are as follows:

. a clear management organisational structure is set up with
well-defined lines of authority, accountability and

responsibilities.

J regular reporting of the performance of the Company’s
businesses to senior management. The Board reviews the
Group's business and financial performance on a monthly

basis.

J the internal audit consultant shall independently evaluate
the adequacy and effectiveness of key controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. The internal audit function reports
major findings and recommendations, if any, to the Audit

Committee on a quarterly basis.

Assessment of internal control system

The Board has assessed the effectiveness of internal control
system by considering reviews performed by the Audit Committee
and management, and the findings of both internal and external
auditors. In undertaking this assessment, the Board engaged an
independent risk consulting firm to assist in the execution of

internal audit plan throughout the year ended 31st March, 2014.

The Board has annually reviewed and considered the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and the Group’s

training programmes and budgets.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The financial statements for the year have been audited by PWC.
During the year, remuneration of approximately HK$2,382,000
was payable to PWC for the provision of audit services. In
addition, approximately HK$306,000 was payable to PWC for
other non-audit services. The non-audit services mainly consist

of tax compliance and advisory services.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, Company Secretary of the

Company, is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved through
adherence to proper Board processes and the timely preparation
and dissemination to Directors comprehensive meeting agendas
and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and Board committees
are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary to
record in sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached by the Board or Committee, including any concerns
raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director. All minutes
are sent to Directors and are available for inspection by any

Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the Board
is fully appraised of all legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments relating to the Group and also

responsible for the Group’s statutory compliance.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is
subject to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company. The Company Secretary reports to the Board, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary of the Company
has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. In response to
specific enquiries made, the Company Secretary confirmed that
he has complied with all the proposed qualifications, experience

and training requirements of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Cheung confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours

relevant professional training during the year.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with shareholders is given high priority.
Extensive information about the Group’s activities is provided in
the annual report and the interim report. The Group’s website
provides regularly updated Group information to shareholders.
The Company also arranges regular site visit for investors and
media. Enquiries on matters relating to shareholdings and the
business of the Group are welcome, and are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. The Group encourages all
shareholders to attend AGM. Notice of the AGM and related
papers are sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days
prior to the date of AGM.

The Company has established the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy setting out the formal channels of communication with
shareholders and other stakeholders for ensuring fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of the Group’s
performance and activities, a copy of the policy has been posted

to the website of the Group.

Shareholders’ Rights

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, Directors of
the Company shall on the requisition of members of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of such of the paid up capital of the
Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to

convene a special general meeting of the Company.

Details of the procedures for shareholders to convene and put
forward proposals at an AGM or special general meeting (“SGM”)

are set out in the Company’s website.

Shareholders may send their enquires requiring the Board’s
attention to the Company’s principal place of business at 3/F.,
Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong) or by e-mail to enquiries@hkstarlite.com.
Questions about the procedures for convening or putting forward
proposals at an AGM or SGM may also be put to the Company

by the same means.
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The Company also values and is eager to hear suggestions and
comments from shareholders and investors. For enquiries from
institutional investors and securities analysts please contact our

Company Secretary.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Chi Shing, Charles
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 25th June, 2014
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE

DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, aged 67, has been an Executive Director of
the Company since 1992. He is the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and is the founder of the
Group. He holds a Master Degree in Business Administration
from the National University of Singapore. Mr. Lam has been in
community work in China and Hong Kong for many years. He is
a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, a director of Chinese Overseas
Friendship Association, a member of Selection Committee for the
Government of HKSAR and a committee member of the Election
Committee Subsector Elections, Chairman of Mainland Affairs
Committee of Scout Association of Hong Kong, Chairman of
Polar Museum Foundation, Chief Executive Deputy Chairman of
Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organizations,
Director of Future Star, a member of Council of China Overseas
Friendship Association, an Adjunct Professor of College of
Business of City University of Hong Kong and Director of
Guangzhou Jinan University. Mr. Lam has received several
prominent awards including “Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young
Persons Award 1986”, “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong
1988”, the first “Hong Kong Entrepreneurs Award 19907,
“Outstanding Achievements Award” of the “Hong Kong Print
Award 1999” and “Medal of Honor (M.H.)” from the government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2002. Mr.
Lam has over 50 years’ experience in the printing industry and
takes charge of the overall planning, strategy and development
of the Group. He has made dedicated efforts to enhance the
transformation of Starlite, specifically in OBM product and

e-marketing in recent years.

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus, aged 57, has been an Executive Director
of the Company since 1993. He is currently the Senior Vice
President and Chief Technical Officer of the Group. He was
appointed as director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company with effect from 19th August, 2011. He graduated from
the Graphics Art Department of the Chinese Culture University
of Taiwan in 1978 and has over 36 years’ experience in the
printing industry. He is appointed as one of ISO/TC130 Experts
representing SAC/TC170 of China and participating international

printing standardization affairs.

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, aged 58, has been an Executive
Director of the Company since 2000, the Company Secretary
since 1999 and an Authorized Representative since 2011. He is

currently the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
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the Group. Mr Cheung joined the Group in early 1997 and is
responsible for the overall finance function of the Group. He
was appointed as director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company with effect from 19th August, 2011. He has
held various senior positions in finance, accounting and auditing
fields for more than 28 years. Mr. Cheung graduated from The
Hongkong Polytechnic University and is an Associate Member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
Fellow Member of The Association of Chartered Certified

Accountants.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui, aged 67, is one of the founders of the Group.
She was re-designated from the position of Executive Director to
Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from 1st
September, 2011. She has over 48 years’ experience in the
printing industry.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 62, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 1993. Mr. Chan is the Chairman
of the publicly-listed Cafe de Coral Holdings Limited in Hong
Kong. He is also a Non-Executive Director of Tao Heung
Holdings Limited, an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited, Pacific Textiles Holdings
Limited, and Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited, all of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. He holds a double major degree in Sociology and
Political Science, a Masters degree in City Planning from the
University of Manitoba, an Honorary Doctorate Degree in
Business Administration, and is bestowed as Honorary Fellow
from Lingnan University. He is also a member of the Political
Consultative Committee of Nanshan District, Shenzhen in the
People’s Republic of China. Mr. Chan currently serves on the
executive committee of the Hong Kong Retail Management
Association, the general committee of the Employers’ Federation
of Hong Kong, the council of the Hong Kong Management
Association, the adviser of the Quality Tourism Services
Association, as well as being appointed by the HKSAR
Government as a member of the Business Facilitation Advisory
Committee and a member of the Task Force on Promotion of
Vocational Education. Besides, he is also the Honorary Chairman
of the Hong Kong Institute of Marketing and the Chairman of the

Business Enterprise Management Centre of the Hong Kong
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Management Association. He has many vyears of professional
experience in the public sector and over 29 years’ managerial

experience in the food and catering industry.

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 8ss, jp, aged 58, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of Nomination Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee of the
Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in July 2004. Mr. Kwok is a practicing
solicitor in Hong Kong. He is qualified to practise as a solicitor
in Australia, England and Wales and Singapore. He is also
qualified as a CPA in Hong Kong and Australia and a Chartered
Accountant in England and Wales. He graduated from the
University of Sydney, Australia with bachelor’s degrees in
economics and laws respectively as well as a master’s degree in
laws. He also obtained a diploma from the Advanced
Management Program of the Harvard Business School.

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 65, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. He is a
practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam is serving as a
member of the Small and Medium Practitioners Leadership Panel
in the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is
also a Past President of The Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors. Mr. Tam also serves as an independent non-executive
director of six other listed companies on the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, namely, CCT Telecom
Holdings Limited, Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited,
Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited, Van Shung Chong
Holdings Limited, West China Cement Limited and BeijingWest
Industries International Limited. He resigned as an independent
nonexecutive director of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited
with effect from 19th February, 2013.

Senior Executive

Mr. Tin Shing, aged 51, is the Senior Vice President (Operations)
of the Group. He joined the Group in 1981 and was promoted
to the present position on 1st February, 2012. He is responsible
for overseeing the Group’s production bases in the PRC. He has
more than 32 years’ of experience in the printing and packaging
industry.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

i
pwc

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
STARLITE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Starlite
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 54 to 136, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at
31st March, 2014, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any

other person for the contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated

financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 3Tst March, 2014 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25th June, 2014
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31st March, 2014

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other gains/(losses) — net

Selling and distribution costs
General and administrative expenses

Operating profit
Finance income

Finance costs

Finance costs — net

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year attributable to the
equity holders of the Company

Earnings per share attributable to the

equity holders of the Company during

the year

(expressed in HK cents per share)
— Basic

— Diluted

RE s
HE_ZT—MNME=A=+—ALLFE

2014 2013
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Fff & FEx FEx
A 5 1,456,556 1,427,544
55 AR (1,159,881) (1,156,076)
EF 296,675 271,468
Hiplzs (B1B) — F58 6 4,079 (4,580)
HERDHER 7 (85,912) (76,099)
—MRITHBAX 7 (177,967) (162,940)
mEEA 36,875 27,849
A& A 383 309
A& B (10,376) (8,520)
REERKA — JF5E 8 (9,993) (8,211)
R B4 A = A 26,882 19,638
e fRAX 11 (11,825) (10,281)
FAXRQAFEZEEA
e % R 12 15,057 9,357
ERNRNRREEF
BAEREBRAF
(BRUABWLZS)
13
— B 2.87 1.78
— HE 2.87 1.78
REOREEI136BE 2T AILEREVHRERAOHERE

The notes on pages 60 to 136 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Details of dividends payable to equity holders of the Company

are set out in Note 14.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  #R & & H W = &

For the year ended 31st March, 2014

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to

BE-Z-—NE=A=+—HItEE

profit or _loss:

(Decrease)/increase in fair value of available-for-

sale financial assets
Currency translation differences

Other comprehensive income for the year,

net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

attributable to the equity holders of the

Company

The notes on pages 60 and 136 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
FREF 15,057 9,357
Htt2EU
H g nJpEE# 7 48 B 18 7 #Y
HEH -
AHEEMBEEZ AAEE
CRL ) /3 (143) 496
EHRER (4,251) 6,104
FREMEEERE
BB 1% (4,394) 6,600
FRAEAREZEE AEM
2EWEHE
10,663 15,957

BB o

RECOEE136AE M R EHEEFHMEHER
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31st March, 2014

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Land use rights

Property, plant and equipment
Prepayments for property, plant

and equipment

Investments in and amounts due

from subsidiaries

Available-for-sale financial assets
Deferred income tax assets

Current assets
Inventories

Trade and bill receivables
Prepayments and deposits

Tax recoverable

Bank deposits with maturity over

3 months from date of deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Borrowings

Finance lease obligations
Trade and bill payables
Accruals and other payables

Amounts due to subsidiaries
Derivative financial instruments

Tax payable

Net current assets/(liabilities)

Total assets less current liabilities

BE
FRBEE

diofe At

M - BE R

ME - B RRE
Z TR

RHBRRZKER
e IR

AR EMTERE

IEEFTS A E

REEE

i3
B 5 SR R i
B RRES
Al A S B
Ak B AR B AR
= EABIZ 8T
i
ReRRESE

af\
REAE

mE
B ROED
BoENEAERE
ERtREREM
&R
FERHPH B A B FROR
TESHMTA
FEfHTEIR

REBEE (B FE

HEERRBAE

Note
B 5

15
16

17
18
26

19
20
20

22
22

23
24
25

17
21

Bt # R &

R-_ZE-—MFE=A=+—H

Group Company
£H AT

As at As at As at As at
31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March,
2014 2013 2014 2013
RZZ-0OF RZZT—=F RZZB-OF R_T—=F
=B=+-8B =ZA=+—H =ZHA=+-8B =ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET FER FET
25,592 26,376 — —
428,190 426,849 — —
28,275 15,672 — —
— — 248,164 248,162

5,316 5,459 — —
2,139 2,828 — —
489,512 477,184 248,164 248,162
120,608 110,147 — —
230,218 241,045 —_ —
30,215 28,287 665 703
505 196 64 11
10,599 21,169 — —
216,050 182,515 334 71
608,195 583,359 1,063 785
161,566 222,916 — —
4,036 4,258 —_ _
135,940 117,470 — —
110,077 87,301 1,246 1,129
— — 38,188 35,156

— 884 — —
39,329 40,714 — —
450,948 473,543 39,434 36,285
157,247 109,816 (38,371) (35,500)
646,759 587,000 209,793 212,662




STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31st March, 2014

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Deferred income tax liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to

the equity holders of the

Company
Share capital
Reserves

Shareholders’ equity

FRBAE
ey
BT R E TS
BERRSHAR

BEERE

R A

ERRERFRA
BAEBR A K %

e
1

% R 2

Bt # R &

R-_ZE—MFE=A=+—H

Group Company
£H AT

As at As at As at As at
31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March,
2014 2013 2014 2013
RZZ-0OF RZZT—=F RZZB-OF R_T—=F
=B=+-8B =ZA=+—H =ZHA=+-8B =ZA=+—H
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FER FET FER FET
23 77,683 9,952 — —
24 4,340 7,806 — —
26 5,974 8,015 — _
87,997 25,773 — —
558,762 561,227 209,793 212,662
27 52,514 52,514 52,514 52,514
29 506,248 508,713 157,279 160,148
558,762 561,227 209,793 212,662

Lam Kwong Yu
K 0
Chairman

TE

The notes on pages 60 and 136 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Cheung Chi Shing, Charles
Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st March, 2014

Balance at 1st April, 2012 R=ZZT-—Z=F
B—B#&
Profit for the year F W& A
Other comprehensive income Hi2mEK =
— Increase in fair value of — A EMBEE
available-for-sale financial assets Z R BEEM
— Currency translation differences — ERER

Total comprehensive income for the year 4 A & [ Ut 25 48 58

Increase in capital reserve Nl

Dividends paid EREREA

Balance at 31st March, 2013 R-E—=%
ZR=1t—-H#&&

Balance at 1st April, 2013 R=ZZB-Z=F
B—B#&&

Profit for the year F N 7

Other comprehensive income H i 2 H ¥z

— Decrease in fair value of — R EMBEE

available-for-sale financial assets Z AR BERY
— Currency translation differences — ERER

Total comprehensive income for the year A4 [ U &5 42 58

Dividends paid B A
Balance at 31st March, 2014 R-ZZE—DNE
ZA=+—B#&&%

The notes on pages 60 and 136 form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

REEREHR
HE-_ZT—NF=A=+—HLFE

Attributable to the equity holders of the Company

RARERFEAREMN
Share capital Reserves Total
& it st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TETT TETT TETT
52,514 502,635 555,149
— 9,357 9,357
— 496 496
— 6,104 6,104
— 15,957 15,957
— 623 623
— (10,502) (10,502)
— 6,078 6,078
52,514 508,713 561,227
52,514 508,713 561,227
— 15,057 15,057
— (143) (143)
— (4,251) (4,251)
— 10,663 10,663
— (13,128) (13,128)
— (2,465) (2,465)
52,514 506,248 558,762

REORZIBEZMERUSHREMBRROER




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31st March, 2014

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash inflow generated from
operations

Interest paid

Hong Kong profits tax paid

Overseas income tax paid

PRC income tax refunded

Hong Kong profits tax refunded

Net cash generated from operating

activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and
equipment

Investment in available-for-sale
financial assets

Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment

Prepayments for property, plant and
equipment

Interest received

Decrease/(increase) in short-term
bank deposits with maturity over

3 months
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
New long-term bank loans
Repayments of long-term bank loans
New short-term bank loans
Repayments of short-term bank loans
Repayments of finance lease
Dividends paid

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash

equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents on 1st April
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and

bank overdrafts

Cash and cash equivalents on 31st
March

mERITREBR

HE-Z-—NE=F=+—HILFEE

2014 2013
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
k=2 FHERT FHET

KRETBHoBHERE

KEEBEEZRESRA
30(a) 140,940 81,317
2 AT FLE (11,260) (10,171)
BEREBEREH (2,385) (823)
BB INT ISR (12,518) (6,026)
BEREPETCEMRSNR 181 —
EREBEBMNER — 241
KEEHEEZ RS FE
114,958 64,538
REZH-EHERE
BEWMXE BELEZE
(70,270) (46,191)
BEARAHEEMIBEE
— (3,563)
LEME BEREZHEZ
B 5 WA 30(b) 1,408 349
M- BB REE 2B R
(12,603) (12,030)
2 U A B 383 309
FEA =& A BBl 2 A ERER 1T
TR L,/ ()
10,570 (259)
KRETBAMAZHEEFE (70,512) (61,385)
MEIBH2EERE
IBRITRBER 99,839 61,400
BEROTRPER (68,629) (45,309)
FERITEHEER 214,938 261,103
BERTEPER (239,127) (267,645)
BEVBEELY (3,124) (711)
ERRE (13,128) (10,502)
RMEFDMAZRESFE (9,231) (1,664)
ReREESSEZFHEEM
35,215 1,489
MA—BzEReRELEE 182,413 180,810
ReRBTEIZER
(EB18) W= (1,578) 114
=ZHA=+-BzE2RELEE
22 216,050 182,413

The notes on pages 60 and 136 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

REORAZIBEZMERUSHRAMBRROER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 General information
Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an investment
holding company. lts subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the printing and manufacturing of packaging materials,
labels and paper products, including environmental

friendly paper products.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 3rd
November, 1992, as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The
address of its registered office is Canon’s Court, 22
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. The Company’s
shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited since 1993.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar, unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 25th June, 2014.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently

applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”). The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the

revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with  HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements,

are disclosed in note 4 below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)
The following new standards, amendments to

standards and interpretation are mandatory for the

Group’s financial year beginning 1st April, 2013.

The adoption of these new standards, amendments

to standards and interpretation does not have any

significant impact to the results and financial

position of the Group; certain additional disclosures

have resulted.

HKFRS 1

Amendment
HKEFRS 7

Amendment
HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

Amendments to
HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12

HKAS 1
Amendment
HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 27 (2011)

HKAS 28 (2011)

HK(IFRIC)
— Int 20

HKFRSs

Amendment

Government Loans

Disclosures — Offsetting Financial

Assets and Financial Liabilities
Consolidated Financial Statements
Joint Arrangements

Disclosure of Interests in Other

Entities
Fair Value Measurements

Consolidated Financial Statements,
Joint Arrangements and
Disclosure of Interests in Other

Entities: Transition Guidance

Presentation of Financial

Statements
Employee Benefit

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in Associates and

Joint Ventures
Stripping Costs in the Production

Phase of a Surface Mine

Annual Improvements 2009-2011
Cycle
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
The following new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretation have been issued but
are not effective for the financial year beginning 1st
April, 2013 and have not been early adopted by the
Group. The Group has commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new standards, amendments
to standards and interpretation but is not yet in a
position to state whether they would have a
significant impact on its results of operations and

financial position.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments’

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts*

HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Amendment Contributions?

HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and
Amendment Financial Liabilities'

HKAS 36 Recoverable Amount Disclosures
Amendment for Non-Financial Assets'

HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and
Amendment Continuation of Hedge

Accounting'

HK(IFRIC) Levies!

— Int 21

Amendments to
HKFRS 7 and
HKFRS 9

Mandatory Effective Date of
HKFRS 9 and Transition

Disclosures®

Amendments to  Investment Entities'

HKFRSs 10,12

and HKAS 27
(2011)

HKFRSs Annual Improvements 2010-2012
Amendment Cycle?

HKFRSs Annual Improvements 2011-2013
Amendment Cycle?
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)
1 effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st January, 2014

2 effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st July, 2014

3 mandatory effective date has not yet been
fixed
4 effective for annual periods beginning on or

after 1st January, 2016

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control

ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to

account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the

acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2

Consolidation (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the income

statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.
The financial information reported by subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
the investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at
cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on

the basis of dividend received and receivable.

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in the
consolidated income statement. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as
an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to the

consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.3

2.4

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segments, has been identified as the
Chairman/Chief Executive Officer who makes

strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(a)  Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation

currency.

(b)  Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated income

statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances (Continued)
Changes in the fair value of monetary
securities denominated in foreign currency
classified as available-for-sale are analysed
between translation differences resulting from
changes in the amortised cost of the security
and other changes in the carrying amount of
the security. Translation differences related to
changes in amortised cost are recognised in
the consolidated income statement, and other
changes in the carrying amount are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

Translation difference on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of the fair value gain or
loss. Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets such as equities classified as
available-for-sale are included in other

comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financial

position;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

2.5

2.6

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(c) Group companies (Continued)

(ii) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the

transactions); and

(iii)  all

differences are recognised in other

resulting currency translation
comprehensive income.
On consolidation, currency translation
differences arising from the translation of the
net investment in foreign operations are taken
to other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is partially disposed of or
sold, currency translation differences that
were recorded in equity are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the

gain or loss on sale.

Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for land use rights
are accounted for as prepaid operating lease
payments. They are expensed in the consolidated
income statement on a straight-line basis over the
periods of the lease; when there is impairment, the
impairment is expensed immediately in the

consolidated income statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including leasehold
land interests classified as finance leases but
excluding construction in progress, are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the

acquisition of the assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in

which they are incurred.

Leasehold land interests classified as finance leases
commence amortisation from the time when the
land interest becomes available for its intended use.
Amortisation on leasehold land interests classified
as finance lease and depreciation on all other
property, plant and equipment are calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate their cost to
their residual values over their estimated useful

lives, as follows:

— Leasehold land interests

classified as finance leases Over the lease term
— Buildings 25 to 50 years
— Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years
— Furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period. The carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the
carrying amount is greater than its estimated

recoverable amount (note 2.7).

Construction in progress comprises buildings on
which construction work has not been completed
and plant and machinery for which installation work
has not been completed. It is carried at cost which
includes construction and installation expenditures
and other direct costs less any impairment losses.
On completion, construction in progress is
transferred to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. No depreciation is provided for
construction in progress until it is completed and

available for use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within ‘other gains/(losses)-net’

in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and
other non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Assets that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the

impairment at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and
other non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s

net assets including goodwill.

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
categories of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-
for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose
for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its

financial assets at initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss

A financial asset (including derivative
financial instrument) is classified as fair value
through profit or loss if acquired principally
for the purpose of trading or designated upon
initial recognition. Assets in this category are
classified as current assets if they are either
held for trading or are expected to be settled
within twelve months otherwise they are

classified as non-current.

(b)  Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than twelve
months after the end of the reporting period.
These are classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade
and bill receivables and bank balances and
cash in the statement of financial position
(notes 2.12 and 2.13).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless management intends to dispose
of the investments within twelve months of

the end of the reporting period.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are
initially recognised at fair value, and transaction
costs are expensed in the consolidated income
statement. Financial assets are derecognized when
the rights to receive cash flows from the investments
have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.
Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Gain or loss arising from changes in the fair value
of the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are included in the consolidated income
statement within other income/other operating costs
in the financial period in which they arise. Dividend
income from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement as part of other income when the

Group’s right to receive payments is established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in a foreign currency and classified as
available-for-sale are analysed between translation
differences resulting from changes in amortised cost
of the security and other changes in the carrying
amount of the security. The translation differences
on monetary securities are recognised in the

consolidated income statement; translation

differences on non-monetary securities are
recognised in equity. Changes in the fair value of
monetary and non-monetary securities classified as
available-for-sale recognised in other comprehensive

income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are
sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in the
consolidated income statement as gain and loss

from investment securities.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in
the consolidated income statement as part of other
income. Dividends from available-for-sale equity
instruments are recognised in the consolidated
income statement as part of other income when the

Group's right to receive payments is established.

A M BRRME

2

EREHBRHE (8)

2.8

M EE (&)

MASNEHBR D ERAHEEZER
FHRNAAEBEEY MNEEFEHR
HRARYELAMNBREZEEESRE
BEHEBESHETHIN EEER 2B,
HERREERGRER MIEEER
HFZHREZHEINERER - 2 BRAW
HHEENEBRFIFEREFZOR
BEZY HRELZEBRARNER -

BEoBRTHEEZEFE L RRE
B ARZERNRA AN EEARR
BEHREMRERBEALZE KER
7 o

AHHERSMNBERNSRTENT
SEHFANERAINIELMEATER -

ERAIHEERETANKRE  BXE
B W X A [ SRR B R R B E B 0 B AEAR

Bl ERATIEE MR AR




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

2.9

Financial assets (Continued)

The fair values of quoted investments are based on
current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset
is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Group
establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.
These include the use of recent arm’s length
transactions, reference to other instruments that are
substantially the same, discounted cash flow
analysis and option pricing models, making
maximum use of market inputs and relying as little

as possible on entity-specific inputs.

Impairment of financial assets

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred only if there
is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss
event’) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or group of financial assets

that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine
that there is objective evidence of an

impairment loss include:

. Significant financial difficulty of the

issuer or obligor;

. A breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal

payments;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.9

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The Group, for economic or legal
reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, granting to the
borrower a concession that the lender

would not otherwise consider;

It becomes probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation;

The disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of

financial difficulties; or

Observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows from a
portfolio of financial assets since the
initial recognition of those assets,
although the decrease cannot yet be
identified with the individual financial

assets in the portfolio, including:

(i) adverse changes in the payment
status of borrowers in the

portfolio;

(i) national or local economic
conditions that correlate with
defaults on the assets in the

portfolio.

The Group first assesses whether objective

evidence of impairment exists.

A M BRRME

2 ERENBERHEE (8

29 MBEERE (&)

(@)  ABEIHIE A F AR i & B ()
. AEBEEREERANH
BOR B RSB SOE R
RE mERARE R
BURA T & Z B8R B K

T

. BB B Al B B E S AT
Hi 5 EMA

. & 7 B DR IR B R 5% B 7
BEMERT S TNBFE:

%

. ARBNEMNBTBENRY
mERR XARNMBKE
ENMHaRARBEERESR
AEFENR D BEZR
DR B E R Z AR
MEMBEERN B #
BERBRE:

B EWIN:0R - N0
& FOIR R A A&
)

HZANEERH
BEREEEN2E
T B3 7 A AR ©

AEEEAFGEESFERED

BRELR -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
The amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The asset’s carrying
amount is reduced and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement. If a loan has a variable interest
rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate determined under the contract.
As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable

market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously
recognised impairment loss is recognised in

the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Assets classified as available for sale

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. For debt
securities, the Group uses the criteria refer to
in (a) above. In the case of equity investments
classified as available for sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is also evidence that
the assets are impaired. If any such evidence
exists for available-for-sale financial assets,
the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss — is removed
from equity and recognised in the separate
consolidated income statement. Impairment
losses recognised in the separate consolidated
income statement on equity instruments are
not reversed through the separate
consolidated income statement. If, in a
subsequent period, the fair value of a debt
instrument classified as available for sale
increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or
loss, the impairment loss is reversed through

the separate consolidated income statement.

2.10 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on

the date a derivative contract is entered into and

are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. The

derivative instruments held by the Group do not

qualify for hedge accounting and are accounted for

at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair

value of these derivative instruments are recognised

immediately in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.11

2.13

2.14

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw

materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable

selling expenses.

Trade and bill receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and bill receivables is expected in one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer), they are classified as current assets. If not,

they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and bill receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less

provision for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial

position.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
consolidated income statement over the period of

the borrowings using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.14

2.15

Borrowings and borrowing costs (Continued)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
In this case, the fee
To the

extent there is no evidence that it is probable that

facilities will be drawn down.

is deferred until the draw-down occurs.

some or all of the facilities will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the

facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months

after the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the
asset for its intended use. All other borrowing costs
are charged to the consolidated income statement

in the period in which they are incurred.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are

presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position date
in the countries where the Company and its
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax

authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred

income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
in the

temporary difference will not reverse

foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle

the balances on a net basis.

Share capital
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the
Company’s equity share capital, the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental
income taxes) is deducted from

costs (net of

retained earnings.

Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and
long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the

reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the

time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Retirement benefits

The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. A
defined contribution plan is a retirement
benefit scheme under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contribution for post-retirement

benefits beyond these fixed contributions.

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to government authorities, insurance
companies or trustee-administered funds. The
Group pays contributions on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The
contributions are recognised as employment
costs when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction

in the future payments is available.

Share-based compensation

The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of share
options is recognised as an expense over the
vesting periods of the options granted. The
total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted excluding the
impact of any non-market vesting conditions.
Non-market vesting conditions are included
in the assumption that the number of options
that are expected to become exercisable. At
the end of each reporting date, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement,

with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c) Share-based compensation (Continued)
The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share

premium when the options are exercised.

(d) Profit-sharing and bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based
on a formula that takes into consideration the
profit attributable to the Company’s
shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive

obligation.

2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating

losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is

recognised as interest expense.

mEMBERRNE

2

ERETHERME (8)

2.18

ST®EM (&

© KR BERZFEE)
ERBBREETER FAEKAR
R EM A R 5 AR AR
A (EE) BB s fE -

d) wHDFRIEAGE
AN B R AR D B AR 3 1R R
08 MR IE 2 A G F AT Mos
MNAoEERARBERAX-EH
ERNETIBEEBEISIBIEES
o AEENSEREE -

B
FEEREREZEHMELRAER
FMEEEME REAEFTEERTE N
EBNEE: 2BE WA 5 G F &
1o TRLR R 2B B R R

MAEZBERAUNERE EF2HEENDR
HERMAIREE  REEETOEIEZE
EZE-HEER-BETEIMEEMNE
fa] — {818 B A8 B9 &9 & RO A9 7T B2 1 R
1K DARE R -

BERBHANEZRENFTENER
BEEMRAXHREFE ZMNERRE
BhmisHeERREMEHEETEAR
BrRHE - BEE R EBEMEB M EE
ERRBMBRAX -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition

2.21

Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sale of
goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s
activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax,
returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating

sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity
and specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group'’s activities as described below. The Group
bases its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of

transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a)  Sales of goods
Sales of goods are recognised when a group
entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has accepted the products and
collectability of the related receivables is

reasonably assured.

(b) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest

method.

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks
and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor), including upfront payment
made for land use rights, are charged to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line

basis over the period of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.21

2.22

Leases (Continued)

Leases of certain property, plant and equipment
where the Group has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the
leased property and the present value of the

minimum lease payments.

Each

liability and finance charges so as to achieve a

lease payment is allocated between the

constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in short-term and long-term
finance lease obligations. The interest element of
the finance cost is charged to the consolidated
income statement over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
The property, plant and equipment acquired under
finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the

useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured reliably. A contingent liability is not
recognised but is disclosed in the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will

then be recognised as a provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.22

2.23

2.24

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain events not
wholly within the control of the Group. A
contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements when an
inflow of economic benefits is probable. When an

inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that
require the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due,
in accordance with the terms of a debt instruments.
The Company and the Group account for the
financial guarantee contracts under HKFRS 4
“Insurance contracts” and do not recognise liabilities
for financial guarantees at inception, but performs a
liability adequacy test at the end of each reporting
period by comparing its net liability regarding the
financial guarantee with the amount that would be
required if the financial guarantee would result in a
If the

respective liability is less than its present legal or

present legal or constructive obligation.

constructive obligation amount, the entire difference
is recognised in the consolidated income statement

immediately.

Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions to the Company’s
shareholders are recognised as a liability in the
Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in
the period in which the dividends are approved by

the Company’s shareholders.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s principal activities expose it to a
variety of financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash
flow interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and
price risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. The Group uses derivative financial
instruments to manage certain interest risk
exposures. Risk management is carried out by senior
management of the Group under policies approved

by the Board of Directors of the Company.

@ Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Subsidiaries of the Company operate in
the People’s Republic of China (the
“Mainland China”),

Singapore and Malaysia with most

Hong Kong,

transactions denominated in either
Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar, Singapore
dollar, United States dollar or
Malaysian ringgit. The Group is
exposed to foreign exchange risk
primarily through sales and purchases
transactions that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional
currency of the relevant subsidiary. The
Group considers its foreign currency
exposure mainly arises from the
exposure of Renminbi against Hong
Kong dollar and/or United States dollar.
As Hong Kong dollar is pegged to
United States dollar, the Group
believes the exposure of transactions
denominated in United States dollar
which are entered by group companies
with a functional currency of Hong

Kong dollar to be insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(a)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group manages its exposures to
foreign currency transactions by
monitoring the level of foreign
currency receipts and payments. The
Group ensures that the net exposure to
foreign exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time. The
Group also regularly reviews the
portfolio of local and international
customers and the currencies in which
the transactions are denominated so as
to minimise the Group’s exposure to

foreign exchange risk.

As at 31st March, 2014, approximately
84% (2013: 90%) of the Group’s
borrowings were denominated in Hong
Kong dollar and Renminbi while the
remaining were denominated in United
States dollar, Malaysian ringgit and
Singapore dollars. The Group’s
borrowings are mainly in Hong Kong
dollar or Renminbi to finance
investments in China. At present, the
management does not expect that there
will be any significant foreign exchange
risk associated with the Group’s
borrowings and the Group did not use
any financial instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange risk arising from the

Group'’s borrowings during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(a)

(i)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2014, if Renminbi had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2013:
5%) against Hong Kong dollar or
United States dollar with all other
variables held constant, pre-tax profit
for the year would have been
approximately HK$2,452,000 (2013:
HK$701,000) higher/lower, mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/losses
on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.

Cash flow interest rate risk
As the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for the
cash and bank balances, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in

market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk mainly
arises from borrowings. The Group is
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank
borrowings. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate arising from the

Group’s borrowings.

At 31st March, 2014, if interest rates
10 basis

higher/lower with all

on borrowings had been
points other
variables held constant, post-tax profit
for the year would have been
HK$204,000 (2013: HK$199,000)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of
higher/lower interest expense on

floating rate borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade receivables and deposits with

banks and financial institutions.

Credit risk on trade debtors is managed by
the managements of the individual business
units and monitored by the Group’s
management on a group basis. Most

customers are sizable and renowned.
Management assesses the credit quality of
smaller customers by considering their
financial position, past experience therewith
and other relevant factors. The utilisation of
credit limits is regularly monitored. Debtors
with overdue balances will be requested to

settle their outstanding balances.

The Group believes that adequate provision
for doubtful debts has been made in the
consolidated financial statements and that all
customers with delinquency in payments and
indication of impairment were fully provided
for. To the extent that information is available,
management has properly reflected revised
estimates of expected future cash flows in
their impairment assessments in relation to
receivables. As at 31st March, 2014, a total
provision for impairment of trade receivables
of HK$6,546,000 (2013: HK$6,018,000) had
been recognised in the Group’s financial

statements.

The Group has policies that limit the amount
of credit exposure to any individual financial
institution. The Group’s bank deposits are all
deposited in renowned and established banks
or financial institutions in Hong Kong,
Singapore, Malaysia and Mainland China.
Management considers that the credit risk
associated with deposits with banks and

financial institutions is low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(0

Credit risk (Continued)

The Company has no significant exposure to
credit risk, management has also performed
the liability adequacy test on the guarantees
given to bank and financial institutions for
certain of its subsidiaries and is of the
opinion that there are no liabilities in related

to the guarantees given.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities. Due to the
dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group’s management aims to maintain
flexibility in funding by maintaining

availability under committed credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserve which comprises
cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) and
undrawn borrowing facilities (Note 33) on the

basis of expected cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s and the
Company’s financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of reporting period date to
contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within
12 months equal their carrying balances, as

the impact of discounting is not significant.

Specifically, for the bank borrowings which
contain a repayment on demand clause
which can be exercised at the banks’ sole
discretion, the analysis shows the cash
outflow based on the earliest period in which
the Group can be required to pay, that is if
the lenders were to invoke their unconditional

rights to call the loans with immediate effect.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R & Bt 7 3k R Bf &%

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HBRBREEGE
3.1  Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BKEKBEE(E)
(©  Liquidity risk (Continued) c FHBEZEREE)
Between Between
Less than 1 1 and 2 2 and 5 Over
On demand year years years 5 years
nE nF
EER DR—F —E5= —ERF HBREF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HH$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER TER FERT FEX TER
Group 56
At 31st March, 2014 R-EB-—ME
=A=+—H
Borrowings mME 113,185 48,381 45,539 25,733 6,411
Finance lease obligations RN ER — 4,036 4,340 — —
Trade and bill payables BHENERR
EE — 135,940 — — —
Other payables H A A R — 46,174 — — _
Interest payable e B 3,291 3,851 2,080 1,475 417
116,476 238,382 51,959 27,208 6,828
Between Between
Less than 1 1 and 2 2 and 5 Over
On demand year years years 5 years
nE nF
EER DR—F —&5= —ERF BBREF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HH$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET THERT FERT FTET THERT
At 31st March, 2013 R=-T—=
ZHA=+—8
Borrowings BhE 214,987 7,929 5,095 4,857 —
Finance lease obligations B R ER — 4,258 4,258 3,548 —
Trade and bill payables B 5 EMER
SES 4 — 117,470 — — —
Other payables E AT 3R — 33,761 — — —
Derivative financial TTESMIT A
instruments — 884 — — —
Interest payable FE 1~ R B, 12,119 905 713 525 —
227,106 165,207 10,066 8,930 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(9]

(d)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
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Less than
1 year
LPR—F
HK$'000
FHET
Company AT
At 31st March, 2014 R-Z-WNE=ZA=+—8H
Other payables HoAth & A 3R 100
Amounts due to subsidiaries RN ENGIE S 38,188
38,288

At 31st March, 2013

R=—B-=f=A=+-~8

Other payables H b & 15 3K 98

Amounts due to subsidiaries

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising
from its investments in equity securities which
are classified on the statement of financial
position as available-for-sale financial assets.
To manage its price risk arising from
investments in equity securities, the Group

diversifies its investment portfolio.

The equity securities invested by the Group
are publicly traded on the Hong Kong Stock

Exchange.

At 31st March, 2014, if the prices of the
equity securities invested by the Group had
been lower/higher by 10%, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s equity
would have been approximately HK$158,000
(2013: HK$173,000) lower/higher.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)  Price risk (Continued)
The fair value of the unlisted insurance policy
invested by the Group will fluctuate, subject
to the returns which are at the discretion of
the issuer of the insurance policy. Such policy
has a minimum guaranteed returns during the
holding period. Management is of the opinion
that the price risk arising from this policy is

insignificant.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce

the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue

new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings (including current and non-current
borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents.
Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’, as shown in

the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RAR MR

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HBRBREEGE
3.2 Capital risk management (Continued) 32 EBEXEBEREE)
During 2014, the Group’s strategy, which was RZZE-—HEFEAN AEBEZERK(B
unchanged from 2013, was to maintain a net *ﬁ—:ﬁtﬁﬂﬁ@)ﬁ?ﬁﬁgﬁﬁ
gearing ratio less than 75%. The net gearing ratios bR DRIE% R T —HF R
at 31st March, 2014 and 2013 were as follows: —EEE:H —t+—HzZFaERERDT
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER TET
Borrowings (Note 23) A& (M 523) 239,249 232,868
Finance lease obligation (Note 24) R ER (FFiE24) 8,376 12,064
Bill payables e =45 22,787 4,321
Total borrowings BE B 270,412 249,253
Less: Bank balances and cash (Note 22) J& @ $R17451F NI & (M 5522) (226,649) (203,684)
Net debt B FR 43,763 45,569
Total equity R B 558,762 561,227
Net gearing ratio FRELE 8% 8%
3.3 Fair value estimation 33 ARBEEZMGE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
including cash and cash equivalents, trade and bill
receivables, deposits and financial liabilities
including trade and bill payables, other payables
and short-term bank borrowings, approximate their

fair values due to their short-term maturities.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31st March,
2014 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value

hierarchy as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from

prices) (level 2).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (Continued)
—  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,

unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31st
March, 2014.

Assets EBE
Available-for-sale financial assets 7] fit H & Bf 7 & &

Liabilities a8E&
Derivative financial instruments #7448 T &

The following table presents the Group’s assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31st
March, 2013.

Assets EBE
Available-for-sale financial assets 7] fft H & Bf 75 & &

Liabilities a8E&
Derivative financial instruments £74 4 f T &

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2

during the year.
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ E®R E=ZR ®Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET FET FER
1,575 3,741 — 5,316

TREINAEEBR T -=F=H
=t—HUARBEFENEELAEE-

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—% BR B et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT FHET FHET
1,729 3,730 — 5,459
— 884 — 884
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

3.4

Fair value estimation (Continued)

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the end of reporting period. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held
by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1. Instruments
included in level 1 comprise primarily listed equity
investments classified as available-for-sale financial

assets.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available
and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable, the instrument

is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is

included in level 3.

Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities

No financial asset and financial liability is subject
to offsetting under an enforceable master netting
arrangement or similar arrangement as at 37st
March, 2014 or 31st March, 2013.

4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are

based on historical experience and other factors, including

expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

(Continued)

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning

the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by

definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

addressed below.

(@)

(b)

Trade receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision
for impairment of trade receivables based on an
assessment of the recoverability of the receivables.
This assessment is based on the credit history of its
customers and other debtors and current market
conditions, and requires the use of judgements and
estimates. Management reassesses the provision at

the end of each reporting period.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in
which such determination is made. Deferred tax
assets relating to certain temporary differences and
tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is likely that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred
tax assets and income tax in the period in which

such estimate is changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

()

(d)

(e)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and variable selling
expenses. These estimates are based on current
market conditions and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of a similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in customer taste and competitor actions in
response to industry cycles. Management reassesses

these estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Fair value of financial assets

The fair values of financial assets that are traded in
an active market are determined by the quoted
market prices. For the fair values of financial assets
not traded in an active market, the Group would
use the quoted price provided by counterparty to
estimate the fair values. The methodologies, models
and assumptions used in valuing these financial
assets require judgement by management which are
mainly based on market conditions existing at each

reporting date.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment and land use rights

Management of the Group determines the estimated
useful lives, residual values and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment with
reference to the estimated periods that the Group
intends to derive future economic benefits from the
use of these assets. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. Management will revise the depreciation
charge where useful lives or residual values are
different from those previously estimated. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful
lives and actual residual values may differ from
estimated residual values. Periodic review could
result in a change in depreciable lives and residual
values and therefore depreciation expense in the

future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(f)  Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts
have been determined based on value-in-use

These

calculations require the use of judgements and

calculations or fair value less costs to sell.
estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the
higher of fair value less costs to sell and net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset in the
business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are

discounted using an appropriate rate.

5  Revenue and segment information
The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the printing and
manufacturing of packaging materials, labels and paper

products, including environmental friendly paper products.

(@ Revenue/Turnover is analysed as follows:

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx THER

Sales of packaging materials, labels and $§& B &M 2% -

paper products, including R EE S B

environmental friendly paper products  ZR{R 4 E @ 1,430,648 1,395,969
Others HAh 25,908 31,575
1,456,556 1,427,544
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b)

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been
identified as the Chairman/Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. Operating segments are reported in
a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The
Chairman/Chief Executive Officer of the Company
reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources.
Management has reported the results of the

operating segments based on these reports.

The Chairman/Chief Executive Officer of the
Company considers the business from a geographical
perspective, i.e. determined by the location of major
factory plants including Southern China, Eastern
China and Southeast Asia, and assesses performance
based on revenue, operating profit/(loss), net profit/

(loss), capital expenditure, assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5

Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b)

Segment information (Continued)

(i)

The segment results for the year ended 31st
March, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

For the year ended
31st March, 2014

Total revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue (from external

customers)
Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs
Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) for the year

Other information:

Depreciation and

amortisation for the year

Capital expenditure

—g-m#

ZA=t+—-HLEE

LGN
EEAEEON

BACRENBER)

REREN
BERA
B H X
FREF(BR)
Hih&E# -

FANERHEHE

BEARX

e I RR AR

5

WARDIHER (&)
by HIHEHRGE)

HE-_ZT—NOMFR-_T—=F=
A=+—HBIEFEZHHEEN

(M)

T

Southern Eastern Southeast
China China Asia Group
3] ER KD £8
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THER THER FTHET FER
1,050,327 323,159 193,550 1,567,036
(156) (110,324) — (110,480)
1,050,171 212,835 193,550 1,456,556
4,324 22,981 9,570 36,875
127 222 34 383
(7,397) (1,433) (1,546)  (10,376)
(3,706) (6,845) (1,274)  (11,825)
6,652) 14,925 6,784 15,057
32,516 25,160 8,132 65,808
54,784 9,565 18,523 82,872
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

(i)

The segment results for the year ended 31st

mEMBERRNE

5 WARZHESRE)

(b) 2HER )

() HEZZ-NFR-_Z-—=F=

March, 2014 and 2013 are as follows: A=+—RBIEFEZzHHEEN
(Continued) ™ (8
Southern Eastern  Southeast
China China Asia Group
E=3] ER RED ]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
For the year ended —E-=F
31st March, 2013 ZAZ+—-BLEFE
Total revenue FRON 1,039,430 335,614 183,123 1,558,167
Inter—segment revenue oA (140)  (130,483) —  (130,623)
Revenue (from external WA (RBEINBEE)
customers) 1,039,290 205,131 183,123 1,427,544
Operating profit/(loss) LR (B18) (19,306) 33,607 13,548 27,849
Finance income BERA 134 142 33 309
Finance costs B & AR (6,019) (1,595) (906) (8,520)
Income tax expense FrERm X (3,293) (5,827) (1,161) (10,281)
Profit/(loss) for the year Frm il (F7) (28,484) 26,327 11,514 9,357
Other information: HiEE:
Depreciation and FRTEREH
amortisation for the year 33,790 26,407 6,419 66,616
Capital expenditure AR X 33,408 10,801 26,801 71,010




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

(if)

An analysis of the Group’s assets and

liabilities by segment as at 31st March, 2014

and 2013 is as follows:

As at 31st March, 2014

Segment assets
Deferred income tax assets
Tax recoverable

Total assets

Segment liabilities

Deferred income tax
liabilities

Tax payable

Total liabilities

As at 31st March, 2013

Segment assets
Deferred income tax assets
Tax recoverable

Total assets

Segment liabilities

Deferred income tax
liabilities

Tax payable

Total liabilities

R

Z-mF
A=t-H

NEEE
BIEMEHEE
BEAENEEY T
BEE

NEAE
BIEFMGHAR

PR

ek

R-E—=%
=ZA=t+—H
DHEE E
BB HERE
AT Y [e] B 1S B R

BEE

DEHaR
BIEMSHARE

&S 08

waE

Revenues of approximately HK$206,555,000
(2013: HK$197,684,000) are derived from a

single external customer. These revenues are

attributable to the Southern China segment.

e I RR AR

5 WARZDHEHR(E)
(b) 7 EER(E)

(iii) RZE—NEFR-_ZT—=F=H
S+ -—HBLEFEXREEZHHE
ERBESTOT :

Southern Eastern Southeast
China China Asia Group
@ R RED £8
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TAERT THER TER
665,131 242,715 187,217 1,095,063
426 1,713 — 2,139
64 441 — 505
665,621 244,869 187,217 1,097,707
360,916 67,996 64,730 493,642
3,865 — 2,109 5,974
36,790 — 2,539 39,329
401,571 67,996 69,378 538,945

Southern Eastern  Southeast
China China Asia Group
£ 2% EEz 28
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TET FHET FHET
619,252 259,714 178,553 1,057,519
259 2,569 — 2,828
196 — — 196
619,707 262,283 178,553 1,060,543
325,696 69,057 55,834 450,587
5,218 — 2,797 8,015
34,283 4,815 1,616 40,714
365,197 73,872 60,247 499,316

#9206,555,00078 7T (= & —

=4

197,684,000 ) B9 W AR B —
BE—IHIREFL HEBRABR

2H5H-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Other gains/(losses) — net

Net exchange gains/(losses)

Net gains/(losses) on disposals of property,

plant and equipment
Others

Expenses by nature

Raw materials and consumables used
Changes in inventories of finished goods and

work-in-progress
Sub-contracting charges
Repairs and maintenance
Freight and transportation

Employment costs (including directors’

emoluments) (note 9)

Operating lease rentals of premises

charged by
— third parties

— related parties (note 34)

6 Hftiaxs (BR) — F8E

B e (5 1R) 38
HEME BEMREZ
Wz (5E)FHE

H Al

mEMBERRNE

7 BMEISZHEX

R 4 T S £
BRRRERAEES

MmMIER
HIERE
B E A
ETRA(BRIEESEHE)
(M 7E9)
MEMECERE
HeIfF
— =%
— BRE AL (MsE34)

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&xT FHET
236 (5,026)
1,191 (103)
2,652 549
4,079 (4,580)
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
647,442 666,172
771 (2,521)
37,173 39,543
19,205 18,285
43,627 41,246
461,439 412,520
21,799 19,617
72 69

Provision for impairment of trade receivables & 5 & 1§ 8k FUR (& # & 1,524 3,144
FERE(BEDR) EE

(Write-back of provision)/provision for

inventory obsolescence (note 19) (Bt &E19) (1,404) 7,532
Amortisation of land use rights o 3th {5 P 8 772 753
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BERZEZITE

equipment (note 16) (Ff5E16) 65,036 65,863
Auditor’s remuneration %2R B & 2,621 2,402
Other expenses Hth i =% 123,683 120,490

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution HEXRA HERSHERAK
costs, and general and administrative — M RITH A X B
expenses 1,423,760 1,395,115




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8 Finance costs — net

Interest expense on bank borrowings

— wholly repayable within five years

— not wholly repayable within five years
Interest on finance leases
Fair value (gain)/loss on interest-rate swaps

— realised
— unrealised

Interest income from bank deposits

The above analysis shows the finance costs of bank

borrowings, including term loans which contain a

mE B RRMNE

8 BEMAE — FHE

RITRER B X
— ARAFARZHEER
— EARDFRAZHEER
R CEEORIDS)
MEEHEHON DR EE
(Wezm) /g
—2EBR
— MARER

RITIF FA B A

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
8,939 7,541
730 833
703 81
888 1,716
(884) (1,651)
10,376 8,520
(383) (309)
9,993 8,211

EAMEKBEREHNTEELETENHER
HAH 2JRTBRE(BEZAREREE

repayment on demand clause, in accordance with the GCRZEHERT)HBREXA - R T —MF

agreed scheduled repayments dates set out in the loan
agreements. For the years ended 31st March, 2014 and

2013, the interest on bank borrowings which contain a

repayment on demand clause amounted to HK$7,818,000

and HK$8,021,000 respectively.

;FZTE—=F#=ZR=+—H BREREEX#E
BEREAMRITRENFE S B AE7,818,000%
7T %.8,021,00078 7T °

9 Employment costs (including directors’ 9 ETIRKN(BIEEEHE)
emoluments)

2014 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FHET

Salaries, wages and allowances e TENMER 413,006 372,068

Discretionary bonus B HIRE ZEA 5,239 3,867

Pension costs — defined contribution plans — RIREK AR — 57 E H KRG E 26,747 19,775
(Write-back of provision)/provision for long ~ KEIRH & KFR2 (BEHREE)

service payments and annual leave VL (1,307) 2,249

Other welfare and benefits H A8 A &R 2= 17,754 14,561

461,439 412,520
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Employment costs (including directors’

emoluments) (Continued)

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution scheme
managed by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme,
each of the group companies (the employer) and its
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The monthly
contributions of each of the employer and the employee
are subject to a cap of HK$1,250 and thereafter

contributions are voluntary.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
group companies operating in Mainland China contribute
to state-sponsored retirement plans for their employees.
The employees contribute approximately 9% to 11% of
their basic salaries, while the group companies contribute
approximately 16% to 33% of the basic salaries of their
employees and have no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond

the annual contributions.

The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to retired

employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Singapore, the
group company operating in Singapore contributes to the
Singapore Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 5% to 20% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 6.5% to 16% of the
wages of its employees. The employer’s and employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of ordinary wages of
SGD5,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,000).

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Malaysia, the
group company operating in Malaysia contributes to the
Malaysia Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 11% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 12% of the wages of
its employees. The employer’s and employees’ contributions

are not subject to a cap.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  #r & Bf 7% 3 3R B 5 107
10 Directors’ and senior executives’ emoluments 10 EERSHRITHRAEME
Directors’ emoluments @@ EE#H
The remuneration of each Director of the Company —E-NERZZE-—=F=-H=+—H
for the years ended 31st March, 2014 and 2013 is FFEARRZEEZHEFBNT
set out below:
Pension
costs-
defined
Salaries and Discretionary contribution
Name of Director EEng Fees allowances bonus plans Total
BERREA
BHRE —RE
re HeREHR A HREtE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TEL TEL TEL FET TEL
For the year ended —¥-mF=A
31st March, 2014 =t-HLEEE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Note (i)) #3054 (M 55()) 150 3,706 286 64 4,206
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus HEELs 150 1,276 106 36 1,568
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles R %4 150 2,157 186 55 2,548
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRETL 150 — — — 150
Independent Non-Executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael [R# ¥ %4 200 — — — 200
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, W E @ #£m£s-
BBS, JP A4t 200 — — — 200
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny EBREERE 200 — — — 200
1,200 7,139 578 155 9,072
For the year ended —E-Z=F%
31st March, 2013 ZAEt+-HLEEE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Note (i) #3244 (M 55()) 150 3,706 273 64 4,193
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus HEELE 150 1,276 102 35 1,563
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles FEMK%EE 150 2,017 153 52 2,372
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRI 150 — — — 150
Independent Non-Executive BUFRTES
Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael [ E# ¥ 5% 4 200 — — — 200
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, SHE @ #£ig.
BBS, JP AFat 200 — — — 200
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny — EBF%4 200 — — — 200
1,200 6,999 528 151 8,878
Note (i):  Mr. Lam Kwong Yu is also the Chief Executive Officer of MG M mEERALREENEREHTE

the Group
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 Directors’ and senior executives’ emoluments
(Continued)

(b) No director waived any emolument during the year
ended 31st March, 2014 (2013: Nil).

(c)  Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include three Executive
Directors (2013: five individuals whose emoluments
were the highest in the Group include three
Executive Directors) whose emoluments are reflected
in the analysis presented above. The emoluments
paid or payable to the remaining two (2013: two)
individuals during the year fell within the band
between HK$1,000,001 and HK$1,500,000 (2013:
HK$1,000,001 and HK$1,500,000).

(d) During the year ended 31st March, 2014, no
emoluments were paid by the Company to any of
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group

or as compensation for loss of office (2013: Nil).

(e) Senior management remuneration by band:

e M RAR MR

10 EERSRTHRAEME (H)

by —ZE—ME=ZA=+—HILEEAHE
EERRENHE(ZT—=%F:#)-

(00 EfUBSEHAL

AEBRUSESHFALFR = ABHTT
EF T =F AEEBRUESH
AT ZMAATES) AMa
R LM - FRE RS EN
TZAZZE—=F:Z2) Hile A
1,000,001 7T 21,500,000 7T 38 51 (=
T — =4 : 1,000,001 7T £1,500,000/%
JT) °

d) RZTZ-—HWF=ZA=+—BLEERN"
BERAENEERRSHIAMALX
NEMESERBBEEMARER 2 ZD K
ERERERUZHE(ZE—=%F:
) o

(e) BHROTBAEHFMIZESHEZT

Number of individuals

AB
2014 2013
HK$500,001-HK$1,000,000 500,001/ 7L £1,000,0007% 7T 2 —
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £1,500,0007% 7T 2 2
4 2

11 Income tax expense
The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2035. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the British
Virgin Islands are incorporated under the International
Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands and,
accordingly, are exempted from British Virgin Islands

income taxes.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2013: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit

for the year arising in or derived from Hong Kong.

11
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11

Income tax expense (Continued)

Subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China
are subject to the Mainland China Corporate Income Tax
at rate of 25% during the year (2013: 12.5% to 25%). In
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations, the
Group'’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China as
wholly foreign owned enterprises are entitled to full
exemption from Corporate Income Tax for the first two
years and a 50% reduction in Corporate Income Tax for
the next three years, commencing from the first profitable
year or Tst January, 2008, whichever is earlier, after
offsetting unexpired tax losses carried forward from

previous years.

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6th December, 2007, withholding income tax of 10%
shall be levied on the dividends remitted by the
companies established in Mainland China to their foreign
investors starting from 1st January, 2008. All dividends
coming from the profits generated by Mainland China
companies after Tst January, 2008 shall be subject to this
withholding income tax. As at 31st March, 2014, the
Group had not accrued any withholding income tax for
the earnings from 1st January, 2008 to 31st March, 2014
of its Mainland China subsidiaries because the Group has
no plans to distribute earnings from its Mainland China
subsidiaries generated in the period from 1st January, 2008
to 31st March, 2014 in the foreseeable future.

The subsidiary established in Singapore is subject to
Singapore Corporate Income Tax at a rate of 17% (2013:
17%).

mE B RRMNE

11

B 15 B BA % (48)
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AR (AEREERE) EMFAIEREH
NEXEREH MEB=FREY%-

BE_ZETLFT_RARNEBRMNPEAR
HAMBEERSTEREGN R_FFN
F-A—HRB MARTERINEEY
BIMRE E D IR B ABEI0%ERMASH -
AERPERINEEDR-ZZNF—H
—HERDOFHOKRERBRIARMSH -
RZEBE-OF=A=+—B FEBEL R}
EhBEXIOMBARR -_EZNF - —
AE-Z-—WF=ZA=+—B BHEKEDHF
HEtlREMERAEN BAEERATER
B 7 2R R (AT AT 8 9 R AE P B AR 2 Y
MBRARAR -_ZEENF-A-—RBRE_Z—N
F=ZA=+—BHMHFHE-

R RL ZH B RARIZI M EME
BB RI7%(ZE—=F  17%) B -

109



110
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11

Income tax expense (Continued) 11

The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated

income statement represents:

mEMBERRNE

Fr S %i B8 X (8)
RidBERPMBRNBARE

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET TR

Current income tax expense B ER P15 B A 2
— Hong Kong profits tax — BEBNEHR 3,345 4,780
— Mainland China Corporate Income Tax — REREMREH 7,264 6,630
— Singapore Corporate Income Tax — MK EMREH 2,004 2,260
Under/(over) provision in prior years BEFEBETR,(BEH) 594 (504)
13,207 13,166
Deferred income tax (note 26) BRI P15 (B 7526) (1,382) (2,885)
11,825 10,281

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the

group companies as follows:

AEBZGHRIGENAEZ HBEEERNAK
SERREMNZNEFAREAECERSD

BMEMER  HERWT:

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT TET
Profit before income tax B A5 A1 g A 26,882 19,638
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate RATEB R, 8 A R s R
applicable to profits in the respective 2 RS =
countries/jurisdictions SEZREB 5,062 861
Tax exemption 154 T8 Z R (250) (795)
Income not subject to tax EARBUA (413) (38)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2 2,119 3,906
Utilisation of previously unrecognized EAAERERZ R EE
tax loss (1,478) —
Deferred tax assets not recognised AERZIBELEMEHEE 6,191 6,851
Under/(over) provision in prior years BEFEBETR(BHE) 594 (504)
Tax charge B 11,825 10,281

The average tax rate was 18.8% (2013: 4.3%). The change
in average tax rate is mainly caused by the increase in the
Mainland China tax rate and the decrease in losses

incurred by the Southern China operations.

FHRERB188% (2T —=F 1 43%)  F1J

MENBETIREARNTECEMBHBE

RITREEBRERR D &K o




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 Profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company is

dealt with in the financial statements of the Company to
the extent of HK$10,259,000 (2013: HK$24,027,000).

13  Earnings per share
Basic
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
Group'’s profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

e I RR AR

12 RABESEFBEAEBEEF

ARRHARHAANEEBHNERRARES
WK AR Z %R A 410,259,000 T (Z T
— =4 :24,027,000% 7)) ©

13 BRER
BEA&
BREABHIVERENRDAESEE AR
EAEMHEFRADETEBRZ METY

A
;&: = o
al >

2014 2013
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the 7872 &4 35 A A FE 1k & F
Company (HK$’'000) (F&7T) 15,057 9,357
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B %17 % i@ % 2 in#E 19 2
in issue ('000) (F ) 525,135 525,135
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) BREKRAER CGEM) 2.87 1.78

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
assuming conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. Shares issuable under the employee share option
scheme are the only dilutive potential ordinary shares. A
calculation is made in order to determine the number of
shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average daily market share price of the
Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to the outstanding share
options. The number of shares calculated as above is
compared with the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.
There were no share options outstanding during the year
ended 31st March, 2013 and 31st March, 2014.

For the year ended 31st March, 2014 and 31st March,
2013, diluted earnings per share equals basic earnings per

share as there were no dilutive potential shares.

#BE
FREBRANDABRAETEEINELE
BRESREZ KHEABEETEARZ NE
FHEFE - REBREFIATTEHITZK
MAE - EXNBEETRRZBEEBE -5tE
TEDREARTEBRERMTRBEREZE
BEE UJRIABEREARARNDFEE
BmEEEREZROHME - DlFE 2R
MBEETEBRRTEBREMBS BT 2R
NBEELR - R-_T-—=F=A=+—ARK
TE-ME=ZA=T-HRILEFEALERR
7160 1 B A -

—“F-WEZAZ+-BR-F-Z4ZA
ST-HLEFE SRESRINEASINER
EARBMN BN EA]#EGOEERD -
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14

A M BRRME

Dividends 14 BE
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Interim dividend — HK$0.01 FHIRE — SRABBIL
(2013: HK$0.01) per share (ZZT—=F: §RBEUL) 5,251 5,251
Special dividend — HK$0.005 FRIR B — 8RB 0.5l
(2003 : nil) per share (ZE—=F &) 2,626 —
Proposed final dividend — HK$0.01 BRI E — FRBE UL
(2013: HK$0.01) per share —E-=FgREEUD 5,251 5,251
13,128 10,502

At a meeting held on 25th June, 2014, the directors
proposed a final dividend of HK1 cent per share,
amounting to a total dividend of approximately
HK$5,251,000, which is to be approved by the Company’s
equity holders at the Company’s upcoming Annual General
Meeting. This proposed final dividend has not been
reflected as a dividend payable in these consolidated
financial statements as at 31st March, 2014, but has been
reflected as an appropriation of distributable reserves
during the year ended 31st March, 2014.

The amount of proposed final dividend for 2014 was
based on 525,135,288 shares in issue as at 25th June,
2014.

R-ZE-—NWENA-_t+HAAHESEEH
EEZBREARBRE  FREBUL KE
42 %8 495,251,000/ 7T - #% 50 JE B X R A F K
EREARAEEHFEATHN  HERITK
HRERBEE-Z—MOMF=A=+—HZE
A BHRRTERBRARMRKRES - BEHE
Hz-_Z-—NF=-A=+—HLEFEADIK
Bz -

—E—NERERAEREERE-_ZT—NF
NAZT+HHBE BB #ITIRAS525135,2885%
FE -
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15

Land use rights
The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid
operating lease payments and their net book amounts are

analysed as follows:

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHET

In Mainland China held on: IR FEFRE !
Land use rights of between 10 to 50 years T F10E505F 2 £ 16 FA 4 25,592 26,376
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
At 1st April REA—A 26,376 26,854
Amortisation 5 (772) (753)
Translation adjustments JE B (12) 275
At 31st March R=A=+—H 25,592 26,376

The amortisation expense recognised in the consolidated

income statement is analysed as follows:

2014 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHER FET

Cost of sales B A 12 12
General and administrative expenses — MR AT BB XX 760 741

e MR 113

15 T i{EREE
AEBMAN LI ERENESEEMEEHAE
HERAEEEME ANOT

)k

RigR e RFERBZBER > 20T -

772 753
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16

Property, plant and equipment

Year ended 31st March, 2013

Opening net book value
Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Transfers

Translation adjustments

Closing net book value

At 31st March, 2013

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book value

Year ended 31st March, 2014

Opening net book value

Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Transfers

Translation adjustments

Closing net book value

At 31st March, 2014

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and

impairment

Net book value

ZA=+—RHLEFE
FYREFE
RE
e
HeE
HE
ERAZE

FREREFE

S —=%

A=+-8

A

B 1l

X
BRI ERBE

BREDFE

HE_T—NF
ZA=t+—RHLLFE

FHREFE

RE

wE

HeE

"E

ER AR

FIRREFE

R-ZE—NmE
=ZA=+—8

B AR

2T ERRE

REFE

e M RAR MR

16 M¥ -BERRE

Furniture
Land and Plant and and Motor Construction

buildings machinery equipment vehicles  in progress Total
T REF e EKRARRE RE EREIR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET FET FHET
176,261 243,411 7,245 3,252 1,722 431,891
4,416 35,895 3,235 904 14,530 58,980
(7,982) (54,619) (2,298) (964) — (65,863)
— (370) (66) (16) — (452)

— 1,628 385 — (2,013) —

838 1,203 55 18 179 2,293
173,533 227,148 8,556 3,194 14,418 426,849
243,786 936,901 64,342 16,984 14,418 1,276,431
(70,253) (709,753) (55,786) (13,790) — (849,582)
173,533 227,148 8,556 3,194 14,418 426,849
173,533 227,148 8,556 3,194 14,418 426,849
8,596 39,100 3,647 286 18,641 70,270
(9,109) (52,580) (2,555) (792) — (65,036)
— (153) (22) (42) — (217)
14,740 14,401 117 35 (29,293) —
(1,848) (1,930) (43) (14) 159 (3,676)
185,912 225,986 9,700 2,667 3,925 428,190
265,070 964,206 66,868 16,824 3,925 1,316,893
(79,158) (738,220) (57,168) (14,157) — (888,703)
185,912 225,986 9,700 2,667 3,925 428,190

The net book value of the Group’s interests in leasehold

land classified as finance leases is analysed as follows:

In Hong Kong held on:

Leases of between 10 to 50 years

AEBEOHERBEHENEE I BERZIR
EEE DWW

UREBFE
N F10E0FENHE

2014
HK$’000
TER

2,756

2013
HK$'000
TAET

2,844
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16 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

17

()

Depreciation expense recognised in the consolidated

e I RR AR

16 W% BERSKEGE
(@ RESRERPHEBZNERNL  HIT

income statement is analysed as follows: I
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT THER
Cost of sales 56 BN 60,919 61,592
Selling and distribution costs HENRDHER 398 463
General and administrative expenses —RRITHR X 3,719 3,808
65,036 65,863

Construction in progress mainly represents factories
and office buildings under construction and plant
and machinery under installation in Mainland
China.

At 31st March, 2014, land and buildings with a
total net book value of approximately HK$3,263,000
(2013: HK$3,388,000) were pledged as collateral
for the Group’s banking facilities (note 33).

At 31st March, 2014, machinery of the Group with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$14,499,000
(2013: HK$17,074,000) was held under finance

leases (note 24).

Investments in and balances with subsidiaries

— Company

Investment in unlisted shares, at cost
Amounts due from subsidiaries

Less: accumulated impairment losses

Amounts due to subsidiaries

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest

free and considered as equity in nature. All amounts are

denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

LR AR
Ji& W /B8 1 B

B REPRERE

FE I B 2 A

(b)) HERIRIZRETEEZTOBER
MAEBFMLREPAEES -

(© MZE-—ME=ZA=+—H0 EEEE
#93,263,0007% 7T (ZF — =4 : 3,388,000
Bzt REFRERNEEBRITE
B2 2 M E A (e 5E33) ©

(d RZZFE—NF=A=+—8 ' AEEE
A B #914,499,0008 T (Z T — = F :
17,074,000 7T) &) # 88 1% BF 7% 2 4 #%
B (M5E24) »

17 RMBRAEIZRERRE

NN
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAET
105,513 91,449
MIE 152,935 166,997
258,448 258,446
(10,284) (10,284)
248,164 248,162
IE (38,188) (35,156)

JEW T E AR RIETYEER - DA R RARE
AR IEE - A RBIABTTIINE
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17 Investments in and balances with subsidiaries 17
— Company (Continued)

The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest
free and repayable on demand. Except for an amount of
approximately HK$1,080,000 (2013: HK$1,080,000) which
is denominated in

Renminbi, the balances are

A M BRRME

REBEARIZRERSRE

— RAT (&)
ERWEARRENERR T kEE
ZREE - BREP—%41,080,0008 T (ZF
— =4 1,080,000/ 7T) K 5 IE A A RE 5 A
Gh - BRI TTHIE -

denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

The principal subsidiaries as at 31st March, 2014 were as

follows:
Place of incorporation Issued and
Name of company and operations fully paid capital
REER R AR O % R B i B EBTRARKRAK
Starlite International (Holdings) Ltd. British Virgin Islands Uss$2
RBERARES 2%
Starlite Printers Holdings Cook Islands Cook Islands US$200
Limited =3 200 7T
Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte. Ltd. Singapore 5$8,759,396
IR 8,759,396% M1 T
Starlite Printers (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia RM6,500,000
BRAR 6,500,000/ 7 78 35 7T
Everfar Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$20,000
REBERRES 20,0003 7T
Starlite Visual Communication Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000
ERBRERERAF EE 2,000,0007 7T
Star Union Limited Hong Kong/ HK$2
EBRERAF Mainland China 28T
B/ DE
Starlite Consumer Products, Limited British Virgin Islands US$1
KERARES 1E7T
Starlite Entertainment (Holdings) Limited  British Virgin Islands Us$1
HERARES [ESH
Starlite International Development British Virgin Islands/ Uss1
Limited Hong Kong 1%7T
HERARES/BE
Starlite International Marketing Services  British Virgin Islands/ US$1
Limited Hong Kong 1%7T
KBEBABS /BB
Starlite Laser Graphics Limited Hong Kong HK$3,230,000 ordinary
EERGHEARAF EE 3,230,000 7T
Emkk s
HK$170,000 non-voting
deferred (i)
170,000/ 7T
ERFRELT

13 (i)

W=F-—mF=

m

Percentage of equity
interest held

FERET DL

Directly Indirectly
HE LF:3
100% —

100% —

100% —
100% —

50% 50%
— 100%

— 100%

— 100%
— 100%

— 100%
— 100%

— 100%

B=+—H ZEMNBRA

Principal activities

ETEEH

Investment holding

REARK

Investment holding

BRARRK

Printing of packaging materials and
production of paper products

BEMHER REREE

Printing of packaging materials and
production of paper products

BEMHER R R EE

Investment holding

RERK

Trading and products development

EHRERME
Property holding
BENE
Investment holding
BRARRK

Investment holding

RARK

Inactive

RABIER

Inactive

R IEE

Inactive

AR
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17

Investments in and balances with subsidiaries 17

— Company (Continued)

Name of company

DEEE

Starlite Management Services Limited

Starlite Packaging Technology
Consultancy Limited

Starlite Development International
Limited
EXBERBEBERAR

Starlite Paper Products Limited
ERARBERRARA

Starlite Printers Limited

EXERIBERDF

Starlite Printers HK Holdings (BVI)
Limited

Starlite Printers (China) Limited
ERER (FE)ERAE

Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.

ERERICRINERAF

Starlite Printers (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.
EXEDRIEMERAT

Starlite Productions (Holdings) Limited

Starlite Productions (BVI) Limited

Guangzhou Starlite Environmental
Friendly Center, Limited
BMEARRPLERAAF

Greenworks International Limited

BEIREBRERAR

Shaoguan Fortune Creative Industries
Company Limited
RANEABIEBRAR

Place of incorporation
and operations

SE RS R i B

Hong Kong
B

British Virgin Islands

Hong Kong
Bl

Hong Kong/
Mainland China
&#/

Hong Kong

7

British Virgin Islands

British Virgin Islands

Mainland China

FE

Mainland China
3

British Virgin Islands

British Virgin Islands

Mainland China

FE

Hong Kong

Mainland China
FE

Issued and
fully paid capital
ERTRBARRE

HK$200
2007 7T

Us$1
B

HK$200
20078 7T

HK$1,738,000 ordinary
1,738,000/ 7T

TR R
HK$262,000 non-voting
deferred (i)
262,000 7T
ERRBRET

B 15 (i)

HK$2,700,000 ordinary
2,700,000 7T
Emk G
HK$2,300,000 non-voting
deferred (i)
2,300,000/ 7T
ERERET

AR (i)

Us$1
1%

US$100
100% 7T

US$8,000,000

8,000,000 7T

US$20,000,000
20,000,0003 7T

Us$1
1%

US$256,420
256,420% 7T

US$6,000,000

6,000,000 7T

HK$2
28T

US$11,500,000
11,500,000% 7T

A M BRRME

REBRARAZRERERE
— A2 T (&)

Percentage of equity
interest held

FERERD L
Directly Indirectly
=§:3 Sk
— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

Principal activities

TEEH

Provision of management services
RUE RS

Holding of trade and service marks

BERSRRBAR

Trading of paper products
HEHRES

Production of paper products

wmEE

Printing and trading of packaging materials

BEMHEORRE S

Investment holding

RARK

Investment holding

REARK

Printing of packaging materials and
production of paper products

BEMHENRREREE

Printing of packaging materials and
production of paper products and labels

BERMHEOBRERRBREE

Investment holding

BRARK

Investment holding

RARK

Production of environmental friendly and
other paper products

EERREAGERER

Investment holding and trading of
environmental friendly and other paper
products

BRABRBRRRRREMERERR S

Printing of packaging materials and
production of paper products

BEMHENR REREE
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17 Investments in and balances with subsidiaries 17
— Company (Continued)

Note:

(i) The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the Group. These
shares have no voting rights and are not entitled to dividends unless
the net profit of the relevant company exceeds HK$50,000,000,000
and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a
sum of HK$50,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant
company to the holders of its ordinary shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at
any time during the year ended 31st March, 2014 (2013:
Nil).

18 Available-for-sale financial assets 18

AHHENBEE

Available-for-sale financial assets

— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong,
at fair value BRANEE

— Unlisted insurance policy investment,

at fair value BAREE

Movement of the available-for-sale financial assets is as

follows:

Beginning of the year F4

Additions N

Revaluation (losses)/gains recognised in REEREERDE
investment revaluation reserve (B18) =

End of the year Fax

mEMBERRNE

REBRARAZRERERE

— X2 7 (#)

(i) PHEERZRETEROIFAREERES - HFR
ML ERERE BRIEBEBEAR ZMFEB
50,000,000,000 7T * BRI A AEEZHRE M
BRMARERE  TEBZEEMSR RIFFHEA
A1) AR AR R A H 2 9 R # £]50,000,000,00078 7T ©

FEMBRARAIRBE-_T—NF=A=+—
BLEEFEREMEREEDRTEREEAR(Z

T-=F:8|)-

AHEEMBEE

— REBLTHRREES

— FLETHRBRERE

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAET
1,575 1,729
3,741 3,730
5,316 5,459
AHEENBRECEHMT
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAT
5,459 1,400
— 3,563
1
(143) 496
5,316 5,459




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18

19

Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in the

following currencies:

Us$ E
HK$ I

Inventories

Raw materials B KR
Work-in-progress £ 85
Finished goods RUAK G

The cost of inventories expensed, and included in cost of
sales amounted to HK$648,212,000 (2013:
HK$663,651,000). During the year, the Group has written
back a provision for inventory obsolescence of
approximately HK$1,404,000 (2013: provided for inventory
obsolescence of approximately HK$7,532,000), which was

included in cost of sales.

As at 31st March, 2014, there were floating charges over
certain of the Group’s inventories of approximately
HK$24,472,000 (2013: HK$29,319,000) to secure the trust

receipts import bank loan arrangements (note 33).

mE B RRMNE

18 AHEEMBEE (K)
A E R AR TS IE

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHTT
3,741 3,730
1,575 1,729
5,316 5,459
19 ®E

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHT
67,878 56,646
30,158 24,840
22,572 28,661
120,608 110,147

F&EMKAA H4648,212,0008 T (=T — =
% : 663,651,000/ 7T) 51| 1E 5 X 7 51 A 85 & K
AP -RAFERN AEBEEFFERERE
[ # 491,404,000 L (— B —=F : 7 &R E
5 497,532,000 70) - LB EIEE A 8
ERAF o

RZE—NMEZA=Z+—B AEEHE
24,472,000 7L (= & — = 4 : 29,319,000/
T ZHFERERBRBEEDRTERZHESR
A (T 5E33) ©
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20

Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 20 BEZEWERR

mEMBERRNE

RE-FENRE

deposits k&
Group Company
£8 AT
2014 2013 2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FET FHET
Trade receivables B 5 R R 236,454 246,598 — —
Less: provision for impairment 5 : & 5 J& Uk Bk SRR (B &

of trade receivables (6,546) (6,018) — —
Trade receivables — net B 5 EWERR — B8 229,908 240,580 — —
Bill receivables e = 1% 310 465 — —
Trade and bill receivables BoRKBERKEZE 230,218 241,045 — —
Prepayments and deposits BNREERERE 30,215 28,287 665 703
260,433 269,332 665 703
The carrying amounts of trade and bill receivables, BEEWEZLEE ENZTELIRESOE

prepayments and deposits approximate their fair values.

The Group grants to its customers credit terms generally

receivables by invoice date is as follows:

1 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 days
Over 365 days

Less: provision for impairment of trade

receivables

H 45

mF -

1290K

91E 180K
181E365K
365K

BB SRR E R

BREEBR K ABI0CKEI0RT

S ¥
ranging from 30 to 120 days. The ageing of trade and bill SoBHBMUERRRBEZRE(RERA)

2014 2013
HK$/000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
202,860 215,553
24,515 25,516
7,074 3,981
2,315 2,013
236,764 247,063
(6,546) (6,018)
230,218 241,045
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20

e I RR AR

Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 20 ESEWERRRERE FEAARE
deposits (Continued) Riz€ ()
As at 31st March, 2014, trade receivables of RZE—WFE=ZA=+—H B5EKEXR
HK$185,049,000 (2013: HK$203,912,000) were fully 185,049,000/ 7t (ZZ — = 4F : 203,912,000/
performing. HK$44,859,000 (2013: HK$36,668,000) were TT) B R BE S R 1T 0 44,859,000 T (Z &
past due but not considered impaired, of which — =% :36,6680008 L) EBMERRIKRE
N= ) S T &0 BR /1 A
HK$41,993,000 were overdue less than 90 days and AAE - E R 841,993,000 T E 8 75(\92
=N S T O g = L=
HK$2,866,000 were overdue between 90 and 180 days. iii . /)f‘ 2’8§6’009’% e 1@ %901180%+ 'if
. SRES ORI BERLHELZEBULE
These relate to a number of independent customers for o o o -
hom there | ¢ hist ¢ default. Trad e B 5 B W IR 36,546,000 T (= F — =
w o~m . eref is no recent history of default. Trade £ : 6,018,003 70) 3 5 (8 1% B 2 B fE
receivables of HK$6,546,000 (2013: HK$6,018,000) were B R mE=A=+—0 HERES
considered impaired and fully provided for. The amount of 6,546,000 7T - (= T — = 4 : 6,018,000/
the provision was HK$6,546,000 as at 31st March, 2014 IE) e
(2013: HK$6,018,000).
The Group’s trade and bill receivables were denominated REEZEZRBERLZBATIIEESE
in the following currencies:
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR
Hong Kong dollar BT 54,616 52,469
United States dollar EViv 96,067 105,440
Chinese Renminbi AR 51,157 49,853
Singapore dollar ¥ AN T 19,573 19,326
Others Hit 15,351 19,975
236,764 247,063
Movements in the provision for impairment of trade EHRBETOREBRBZESHOT
receivables are as follows:
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT TET
Beginning of the year F¥) 6,018 7,856
Provision for impairment of trade receivables & 5 F& W iR 3O 1B % 5 1,524 3,144
Receivables written off during the year as FAREEH B 2 &Y
uncollectible BR ARG 8 (1,004) (5,034)
Translation adjustment E AR 8 52
End of the year FR 6,546 6,018

The creation and release of the provision for impairment
of trade receivables have been included in general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated income

statement.

BHRBEFREREBROEHE RN Ga R
BR-BEITEE P AR-
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20

21

22

ma

Bt % R MY A

Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 20 BESEWERRRERE FEAARE
deposits (Continued) & rE (%)
The other classes within trade and bill receivables, RESFEWEZNER FENRERIESS
prepayments and deposits do not contain impaired assets. MEMBERNTTNEREEREEE -
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date RRER T BEHEKERNRSEERE
is the fair value of each class of receivables mentioned HMEREAABE AEBURFEEM MT
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security. B AR o
Derivative financial instruments 21 fTE€WMIA
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET TET
Interest-rate swaps MEEHEH — 884
As at 31st March, 2014, the Group does not have RN —WME=H= -I— H KN&EBIWED
outstanding interest rate swap as the contract expired in REEAOFNERERAGL AZEAHVERZE
September 2013. (2013: the Group has an outstanding —FENARE- (f = *Ei CAREE DR
interest rate swap contract with notional principal amount HEENANEXBHENNRXELAE2E A
of HK$50,000,000 to swap floating rate borrowing to fixed 50,000,000/ 7T - ¥ BRI R )Z B F R 4w B &
interest rate, the fixed interest rate was 3.73% and the FEMEFRIFHE DA BTBERITREER
floating rate was Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate.) BYHERZBME Ml EEEMEA37IE )
Bank balances and cash 22 BITHEFRAE
Group Company
58 NF]
2014 2013 2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET TET FTHET TET
Cash at bank and in hand WITRFERE 204,532 152,396 334 71
Short-term bank deposits HHIRITHER 22,117 51,288 — —
226,649 203,684 334 71
Maximum exposure to SESEEN-E
credit risk 225,322 202,859 334 71

As at 31st March, 2014, the effective interest rate on cash
at bank, short-term bank deposits was 0.142% (2013:
0.062%). The short-term bank deposits have an average
maturity of 2.75 months (2013: 2.6 months).

RZZE—WF=ZA=+—8 ROGFER - EH
BITERZAERFEAFBOINE(ZE—=
F:0062F)  WERHRITERTHINEHR
R2.75ER (ZZF—=%F:26f@A) -
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22

Bank balances and cash (Continued)

Bank balances and cash were denominated in the

following currencies:

mE B RRMNE

22 RITEERAS (A
RITEERRETIRAT EHIE :

Group Company
3 R

2014 2013 2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT TET TERT FHET
Hong Kong dollar BT 24,493 32,905 334 71
Chinese Renminbi AR 69,238 59,187 — —
United States dollar e 81,775 54,195 — —
Euro BT 18,188 10,613 — —
Singapore dollar oo 26,564 39,072 — —
Others Hih 6,391 7,712 — —
226,649 203,684 334 71

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in
Renminbi are deposited with banks in Mainland China.
The conversion of these Chinese Renminbi denominated
balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of
funds out of Mainland China is subject to the foreign
exchange control rules and regulations promulgated by the

Government of The People’s Republic of China.

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash

equivalents include the followings:

Cash at bank and in hand

AEBUAARBIEzZRE A EETF

R B2 RAT -
=

B AR R K AR

AR B E B RE
BE R AR ST R B 62 SNE
B

RenBXRTNASLBASFERE T

RITRFERS

Short-term bank deposits with maturity less i =1 A 5 Hi ~
than 3 months EEIRITIER

Bank overdrafts (note 23)

R175 X (K 5E23)

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR THET
204,532 152,396
11,518 30,119
— (102)
216,050 182,413
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23

Borrowings

Long-term bank loans
Short-term bank loans

Trust receipts import bank loans
Bank overdrafts

Less: amounts due within one year shown
under current liabilities

Non-current portion

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

Wholly payable within 5 years
Wholly payable after 5 years

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

Within 1 year
Between 1 and 2 years
Between 2 and 5 years
Over 5 years

The above amounts due are based on the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and ignore

the effect of any repayment on demand clause.

A M BRRME

23 ®E
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&xT FAT
RAEBIRITER 186,241 155,970
HERITER 28,536 47,477
SRR E ORITE R 24,472 29,319
RITEX — 102
239,249 232,868

BWIARBAGZ —F R
E|HE R ER (161,566) (222,916)
JEBNHAZ 15 77,683 9,952

REE 2 FHEET
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
2HREFANESE 232,838 223,982
2HNRAFRESE 6,411 8,886
239,249 232,868
REE 2 FHEAT

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
—F A 137,566 131,795
S 64,206 47,865
—ERF 31,066 44,322
Bl AF 6,411 8,886
239,249 232,868

ERRBEZEPARREBEE RS ORESLR]
FZEFBH  RATEEEEZREE KK

=
&
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23

24

Borrowings (Continued) 23
The carrying amounts of bank borrowings were
denominated in the following currencies:
Hong Kong dollar BT
Chinese Renminbi ARE
United States dollar EY
Malaysian ringgit ("RM”) HRMmET(THIT))
Singapore dollar ("SGD”) o (M%)
Euro BT
The effective interest rates (per annum) at the end of
reporting period were as follows:
2014
HK$ RMB  US$ RM  Euro
BT AR% ES B B
Long-term bank loans & #1717 & & 2.97% — —  4.30% —
Short-term bank loans 2 #1517 & 7% 2.96% 6.96% 1.90% — 1.90%
Trust receipts import {5 4R 0 IRTT
bank loans 'R 4.71% —  5.64% — —

Bank overdrafts BITEX —

& (F)
ROABMEZREEDEATEHFIE:

SGD
ko

2.36%

H
=

A M BRRME

2014 2013
HK$/000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
177,449 161,983
22,483 47,465
10,657 5,147
15,689 18,261
12,967 —
4 12
239,249 232,868

HERAZARENEMT :

HK$
BT

2.75%

5.01%
5.75%

RMB
ARM

7.29%

2013
Us$ RM Euro SGD
ES BT EV BT
—  4.30% — —
— —  1.95% —
5.77% — —

The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their

fair values.

Details of the banking facilities available to the Group and

pledge of assets are disclosed in note 33.

Finance lease obligations

Lease liabilities are effectively secured as

24
the rights to the

leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default.

MEZEEENSEARNEE:-

AEBBTERACGEEEREERBFAIRRN
B FE33 ©

MBERNEH
mEAETEBINEHE BEEENES
ERBLEA FEAEREARLERE -
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24

25

Finance lease obligations (Continued)

24

The Group’s finance lease obligations were analysed as

follows:

Gross finance lease obligations

— minimum lease payments:
Within one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years

Future finance charges on finance leases

Present value of finance lease obligations

Present value of finance lease obligations:

Within one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years

Trade and bill payables

MBRNER B
— BEER:
—FUR
NF—FEMF
NIEMEERF

R E R

MBEROEHOHRE

e M RAR MR

MBRYER (FH)

ANEE 2B HEROEH DM

MBRHNEHWEE:

—FAR
NF-—FE=MF
NFMFEERF

25

The ageing of trade and bill payables is as follows:

1 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 days
Over 365 days

1290K

91E 180K
181E365K
365K

The Group’s trade and bill payables were denominated in

the following currencies:

Hong Kong dollar
Chinese Renminbi
United States dollar
Euro

Others

BT
AR
E
BT
H Al

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
4,501 4,747
4,501 4,747
— 3,956
9,002 13,450
(626) (1,386)
8,376 12,064
4,036 4,258
4,340 4,258
— 3,548
8,376 12,064
ESENTERIRRERE
BORNEZREEERRROT :
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
125,843 109,281
5,588 7,866
4,329 67
180 256
135,940 117,470

FEEZEGRNERREZEBRIATIEETE -

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
39,047 40,081
56,307 57,362
3,647 3,668
20,902 4,043
16,037 12,316
135,940 117,470
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26

Deferred income tax 26 EEFFEH

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to income tax
levied by same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis. The net

amounts are as follows:

Deferred tax assets BEFRSMEE
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFEMAE
Deferred tax liabilities, net BEXEMSHEE

The net movements in the deferred tax account are as

follows:
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Beginning of the year F4 5,187 8,403
Credited to income statement (note 11) R RET A (B sE11) (1,382) (2,885)
Translation adjustments E R AR 30 (331)
End of the year F 4R 3,835 5,187

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances

within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:

Deferred tax assets: BEEMEHREE:
Tax losses Provisions Total
BIEEE BE oy
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T FEx FHT FEr FHT
Beginning of the year F10 — — 4,264 3,336 4,264 3,336
(Charged)/credited to Rz RF
income statement (8 /A —_ — (698) 561 (698) 561
Translation adjustments ERRE — — 12 367 12 367

e I RR AR 127

WEAEETRTRNBRERBEEESRR
EREAEEE AREMGHREELRERE
BEERA-BBEBREERFREERE
MRARERBITRARNERBBRNAEH
AREEmSHREELB BN EREE ¥R
LI

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FAT

(2,139) (2,828)

5,974 8,015

i 3,835 5,187

BREMBHFRZEHFRENT

BREMEHEENEBEZEZSH (L RFTERR
—EBR AR T

End of the year FR —

— 3,578 4,264 3,578 4,264
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26 Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities:

Beginning of the year FH)

Credited to income statement MU E R A A
Translation adjustment ERAE

End of the year FR

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$40,339,000 (2013: HK$34,826,000) in
respect of tax losses and deductible temporary differences
as it is not probable that the deferred tax assets can be
utilized. Out of the total, approximately HK$16,418,000
(2013: HK$17,624,000) in respect of tax losses that can
be carried forward indefinitely to set off against future
taxable income and the remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$15,774,000 (2013: HK$9,856,000) will
expire in 2016 to 2018 (2013: 2016 to 2017). The
estimated tax losses are subject to approval by the relevant

tax authorities.

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6th December, 2007, withholding income tax of 10%
shall be levied on the dividends remitted by the
companies established in the PRC to their foreign investors
starting from Tst January, 2008. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. All dividends
coming from the profits generated by the PRC companies
after 1 January 2008 shall be subject to this withholding
income tax. As at 31st March, 2014, the Group has not
accrued withholding income tax for the earnings of
HK$35,900,000 (2013: HK$23,802,000) of its PRC
subsidiaries because the Group does not have a plan to

distribute these earnings from its PRC subsidiaries.

e M RAR MR

26

T FR S B ()
I FTS B A -

Accelerated taxation

depreciation

IERBIEITE

2014 2013
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
9,451 11,739
(2,080) (2,324)
42 36

7,413 9,451

FIRIEMEREETSWER  AEEINKRE
RENTEEE LA R Y R = ZRTER
5 B & E %40,339,0008 T(=Z T — = &
34,826,000% L) c B E P BB BB Y
16,418,000/ 7t (= T — =4 : 17,624,000/ JT)
AAER A E DR R RERBIWLA - H 84
i 15 B 18 4915,774,0008 o (= T — = F .
9,856,000 L) B8R T —"FE-T—/\
FERCE—=F: - REEF-_FT—+
F) EEHEEEIAN ARG EEKEA
EpF==FiiA

BRE-ZZTLF+_ASBEMMFAEZEAR
HMBECEMSHEZEREN RZ2TEN
F—A—BHB TERPER IO EY
FIMEEE DRI EBABBI0%TBIRATEHR ©
AR B E BN E T BT B IR
H—EREMNERASHREBESEA -G
RPEBERINCEDPR-_EENF—A—AR
FEHEAOFNEORE BRI IBIRAGH -
RZZE—WNEZRA=Z+—HB AEEIXH
£ B AR 37 A9 BT B8 2 &) Bk B /935,900,000 7T
(= — = : 23,802,000 7t) FE st T (1
BRAEHR BAEEWETE S REFTE
B ST R B B A B EY FIE o
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27

28

e I RR AR

Share capital 27 R&E
2014 2013
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
REE HE fetr 2 B [EIN=
’000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$’000
TR FTET TR TR
Authorised — EERAR —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 FRMEE.TETT
each 2 EiRR 1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid — BETR#E —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 FRMmETET
each: gl
Beginning and end of the F ) R F R
year 525,135 52,514 525,135 52,514
Employee share options 28 EEBRE

On 15th August, 2012, the Company adopted an employee
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) to
replace the old share option scheme adopted on 6th
September, 2002. Under the Share Option Scheme, the
Company may grant options to employees (including
Executive Directors of the Company) to subscribe for
shares in the Company, subject to a maximum of 30% of
the nominal value of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time excluding for this purpose any
shares issued on the exercise of options. The exercise
price will be determined by the Company’s board of
directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant of the
options, (ii) an average closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the options, and (iii) the nominal value of
the Company’s shares of HK$0.1 each. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the

options in cash.

No share option was granted during the years ended 31st
March, 2014 and 2013.

RZEBE-—ZFNA+HEB AREIHKH—E
SRR ESFE(BREAIDUARRR -F
ZFAARNARMZERERES - RE
BEREAEARFAARNBET(BERARAZH
TER)RHEREARBARBRNG WA
BOZBROBRZRERRAITREETRN
Z30% BN EEITEEREMET 2K
- REERARAZEEZREE  HEAAE
RUT=BEZ&SE  OREHBBALAR
MZWHE: (AR RBRHREER L A H
AIAEEXE Z2BDFHRTE: RiDEAR
A& 2 T E (B & fR0.178 7o) - A 5 3 30 &
FIESIEEE BN AR S R RE -

R-ZB-—MER-_T-—=F=ZA=+—-HIt
FER I B A BRE -
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29

Reserves

Group
As at Tst April, 2012

Profit attributable to the equity holders of
the Company
Other comprehensive income
— Increase in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets
— Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income for the year

Employee share option scheme

— Lapse of share options
Increase in capital reserve
Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2013

Representing:
— Proposed dividend
— Others

%8
RZE-Z#MmA-H

KRRBERAA
P15 A
LS
— e AR
ZRRREEM
—EiZE

FREAUEAR
ERBRES
— BRERK

AXGREEM
BEREE

RZF-Z#=A=+-H

— Rk R
— £t

A M BRRME

29 f##E

Share-based

Share Capital compensati Invests Translati Retained

premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RHEE BAEE ROEHEHE REfE ERffR REER ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TR TR TR TR TR TR
127,796 1,169 1,942 664 72,734 298,330 502,635
— — — - - 9,357 9,357

— — — 496 — — 496

_ _ _ _ 6,104 - 6,104

— — — 496 6,104 9,357 15,957

— — (1,942) — — 1,942 —

— 623 — — — — 623

— — — — — (10,502) (10,502)

— 623 (1,942) 496 6,104 797 6,078
127,796 1,792 — 1,160 78,838 299,127 508,713
_ — — — — 5,251 5,251
127,796 1,792 — 1,160 78,838 293,876 503,462
127,796 1,792 — 1,160 78,838 299,127 508,713
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29

Reserves (Continued)

Group
As at Tst April, 2013

Profit attributable to the equity holders of
the Company
Other comprehensive income
—Decrease in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets
— Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income for the year

Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2014

Representing:
— Proposed dividend
— Others

ZFMmA—-H

AREEEBEA
FE 1 A
e
— AHHE AR
ZRRRERS
—EiZE

FREAUEAR

ERRE

RZZ-MF=A=1+-8

K&
— Rk R
— £t

A M BRRME

29 f#fE (&)

Share-based

Share Capital compensati Invests Translati Retained

premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
BB EE BAEE ROEHEHE REfE ERffR REER ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL
127,796 1,792 — 1,160 78,838 299,127 508,713
— — — — — 15,057 15,057
— — — (143) — — (143)
- - — — (4,251) - (4,251)

- - - (143) (4,251) 15,057 10,663
— - — — — (13,128) (13,128)
- - - (143) (4,251) 1,929 (2,465)
127,796 1,792 — 1,017 74,587 301,056 506,248
_ _ _ _ — 5,251 5,251
127,796 1,792 — 1,017 74,587 295,805 500,997
127,796 1,792 — 1,017 74,587 301,056 506,248
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29 Reserves (Continued)

Company AH

As at Tst April, 2012

Profit for the year F N A
Employee share option scheme EEEREE

— Lapse of share options — BRER
Dividends paid BRI S
As at 31st March, 2013 RZZB-=F=A=1+—H
Representing: R&:

— Proposed dividend — BURB R

— Others — Hftp
As at 1st April, 2013 W-Z—=FmWA—H
Profit for the year F N A
Dividends paid BRRS
As at 31st March, 2014 RZZ-—HF=A=+—H
Representing: R&:

— Proposed dividend — BORR S

— Others — Hfth

A M BRRME

29 f#fE (&)

Share-based

Share Capital compensation Retained

premium reserve reserve profits Total
BAD A E BEXfEE ROMEEHE R A MR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000
THET FAET THET THET THET
127,796 520 1,942 16,365 146,623
- - - 24,027 24,027

— — (1,942) 1,942 —
— — — (10,502) (10,502)
127,796 520 — 31,832 160,148
— — — 5,251 5,251
127,796 520 — 26,581 154,897
127,796 520 — 31,832 160,148
127,796 520 — 31,832 160,148
— — — 10,259 10,259
— — — (13,128) (13,128)
127,796 520 — 28,963 157,279
— — — 5,251 5,251
127,796 520 — 23,712 152,028
127,796 520 — 28,963 157,279
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mE B RRMNE

30 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement 30 S4B EHRERME
(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (@) MRS A B S EBELIN S 2 B -

generated from operations:

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TET
Profit before income tax Fr B4 81 s 26,882 19,638
Adjustments for: BT
— Interest income — FBEBA (383) (309)
— Interest expense — MEXH 11,260 10,171
— Amortisation of land use rights — b 5 R B 772 753
— Depreciation of property, —ME -BEARBZTE
plant and equipment 65,036 65,863
— Net (gains)/losses on disposals of — HEYE BENRERE
property, plant and equipment z () EEFE (1,191) 103
— Fair value gain on interest-rate — MXREHEHZAREE
swaps Uz (884) (1,651)
— Provision for impairment of — BHRWRTORERE
trade receivables 1,524 3,144
— (Write-back of provision)/provision — FERE(BERDR)
for inventory obsolescence B (1,404) 7,532
— Net exchange (gains)/losses — X (W) EEFE (236) 5,026
101,376 110,270
Changes in working capital (excluding & iE& & #
effects of translation adjustments) (TEFRELAENTER)
— Inventories — 78 (9,057) (11,546)
— Trade and bill receivables — BHOBRKERREE 9,303 (29,446)
— Prepayments and deposits — A FERES (1,928) (7,218)
— Trade and bill payables — BHRNERERLRRE 18,470 6,856
— Accruals and other payables — EET BB R E M ER R 22,776 12,401
Net cash generated from operations REEXBEEZRSFR 140,940 81,317
(b)  In the cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal by RHREEREEAN HEVE BELER
of property, plant and equipment comprise: HZFBRABEE:
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Net book value R FE 217 452
Gains/(losses) on disposals of property, HEWZE - KE KFZH 2 K
plant and equipment /(E8) 1,191 (103)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWME BMERREZME
plant and equipment A 1,408 349
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31  Commitments 31 &g
(@) Capital commitments (@) EBREIE
Capital expenditure of the Group at the end of FEBRBELERBEFTHEMRA
reporting period contracted but not yet provided for ZERRAITMAT ¢

is as follows:

Group
£E
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Machinery T 25 1,992 6,085
Equipment and renovation R REE 2,551 951
Construction in progress IR 71 2,119
Motor vehicles "RE 1,709 —
6,323 9,155
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) KEHEERE
The Group had future aggregate minimum lease AEBBRBEAAIGFHZAR LB RET
payments under non-cancellable operating leases of KEMEZARKEBREMNREHMNT
land and buildings, as follows:
Group
£H
2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET
Amounts payable ES:
— within one year — —F R 22,270 18,641
— later than one year but no later — BB —FELIRAF
than five years 22,086 3,269
44,356 21,910
Generally, the Group’s operating leases are for terms AEBENKELHEEFH - RR—FE2D

of 1 to 5 years. Fo
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32

33

Financial guarantees

As at 31st March, 2014, the Company had provided
guarantees in respect of banking facilities of its subsidiaries
amounting to approximately HK$335,486,000 (2013:
HK$421,253,000). The facilities utilised by the subsidiaries
as at 31st March, 2014 amounted to approximately
HK$262,036,000 (2013: HK$234,683,000).

Banking facilities and pledge of assets

As at 31st March, 2014, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities of approximately HK$587,554,000 (2013:
HK$781,723,000) for overdrafts, loans, trade financing and
bank guarantees. Unused facilities as at the same date
amounted to approximately HK$318,505,000 (2013:
HK$541,632,000). These facilities were secured by:

(i) mortgages over the Group’s land and buildings with
a total net book value of approximately

HK$3,263,000 (2013: HK$3,388,000) (note 16(c));

(i) floating charges over the Group’s inventories held
under trust receipts import bank loan arrangements
of approximately HK$24,472,000 (2013:
HK$29,319,000) (note 19);

(iii)  finance charge over the Group’s plant and
machinery of approximately HK$14,499,000 (2013 :
HK$17,074,000) (note 24); and

(iv)  guarantees provided by the Company and certain of

its subsidiaries.
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RZTE—WUF=ZA=Z+—H ARQRARET
WEARFMERITEEEEMEBHAAER
49335,486,0007% 7T (==& — = 4 : 421,253,000
BT R_E—HNF=ZA=Z+—BZHER
A2 B A 2R 1715 B 5 E £9262,036,0007% 7T

(ZZ— =4 : 234,683,000/ 7T) °

RITEEEREELRM
RZZ-—MEZA=+—A AEEERH
ZEX HF EHMERBRITERERTE

B 44 ¥ #9587,554,0008 T (= T — = F:
781,723,000/ 7T) AR B W R E A 2 RI1T1E
B F #49318,505,00008 (= T — = &

541,632,000/ 7T) © I ERITE B8 2 K I
T~

(i) AEBLHEEFIRE EAR@MFE
#93,263,0007% 7T (== — =4 : 3,388,000
78 70) (M E16(c) ) 5

(i) AEEIREFWEEDBITERTHR
BAEZETEFEEH#24,472,0008 T (—F
— =% 129,319,000/ 7o) (M 5£19)

iy AEBEZRVBEZHOFTEHEED
14,499,000% (= T — = F:
17,074,000 70) (B 5224) 5 &
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34 Related party transactions 34
As at 31st March, 2014, Mr. Lam Kwong Yu and his
spouse beneficially owned approximately 40.17% of the
Company’s ordinary shares. Ms. Yeung Chui beneficially
owned approximately 17.87% of the Company’s ordinary
shares. Both Mr. Lam and Ms. Yeung are directors of the

Company.

(@  Particulars of significant transactions between
the Group and related parties

BEALTZRS
RZZE—WNE=ZRA=+—HB MArUWEER
HEBEHEANRQ B 440.17%K LB D -
BRZITHEBARARN7.87%0 TG
MEERBLET-_ABHAARAES -

(@ AEBEBEEATETZEERS
HBEWMT

2014 2013
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Operating lease rentals expenses KeEHEHSER
— Ms. Yeung Chui (note (i) — BERE L+ (FaEG)) 72 69
Note: P o -

(i) The Group entered into an operating lease agreement with
Ms. Yeung Chui, a director of the Company. The transaction
was carried out in the usual course of business, and in
accordance with the terms of the contract entered into by
the Group and the related party.

(b) Key management compensation

(i) AEBEBRLT  ARAZEF FTEL
BHREGHR LARSGHE-REBER
REAEBEBBEATRTAR ZIGTETT -

by FZEEBAEMEEN

2014 2013

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Basic salaries, allowances and others EAHE R RHEAM 8,339 8,199

Discretionary bonus B HIRE ZEA 578 528
Pension costs — defined contribution RIKPA — RE R ET &

plans 155 151

9,072 8,878
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